University of Mississippi

eGrove
Industry Developments and Alerts

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA) Historical Collection

2000

State and local governmental developments - 2000;
Audit risk alerts
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Auditing Standards Division

Follow this and additional works at: https://egrove.olemiss.edu/aicpa_indev
Part of the Accounting Commons, and the Taxation Commons
Recommended Citation
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Auditing Standards Division, "State and local governmental developments - 2000;
Audit risk alerts" (2000). Industry Developments and Alerts. 206.
https://egrove.olemiss.edu/aicpa_indev/206

This Book is brought to you for free and open access by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Historical Collection at
eGrove. It has been accepted for inclusion in Industry Developments and Alerts by an authorized administrator of eGrove. For more information,
please contact egrove@olemiss.edu.

AUDIT RISK ALERTS

A m e r ic a n Institute
of

C e r tified P ublic A c c o u n t a n t s

State and Local
Governmental
Developments—2000
Complement to AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide
Audits of State and Local Governmental Units

N o tice to R eaders
The AICPA staff has developed this Audit Risk Alert to provide you,
as an auditor of financial statements of state and local governments,
with an overview of recent economic, industry, regulatory, and pro
fessional developments that may affect the audits you perform. This
document has not been approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted
on by a senior technical committee of the AICPA.
Leslye Givarz

Technical Manager
Accounting and Auditing Publications
M ary McKnight Foelster

Technical Manager
Professional Standards and Services

We wish to thank Venita M. Wood, an independent consultant in
governmental accounting and auditing issues, for her considerable
efforts in drafting most of this Audit Risk Alert. We also wish to
thank the various members of the governmental accounting and
auditing profession and related disciplines who contributed to this
document, including W illiam V. Allen, Jr., M arcia Buchanan,
M arilyn Doolittle, Randal J. Finden, John Fisher, Wesley A. Gal
loway, Dudley J. Garidel, Jr., Stephen Gauthier, Joseph Hebert, L.
Michael Howard, Karl D. Johnson, Terry Kile, M ary Jo Koschay,
Jill O ’Brien, Lenora Ohlenbusch, Andrew Parker, Kinney Poynter,
Terrill W. Ramsey, Kenneth R. Schermann, G ilbert Tran, Jon
Wise, and various staff members of the Internal Revenue Service.

AUDIT RISK ALERTS

State and Local
Governmental
Developments—2000
C o m p le m e n t to A IC P A A u d it a n d A c c o u n tin g G u id e

Audits of State and Local Governmental Units

Copyright © 2000 by
American Institute o f Certified Public Accountants, Inc.,
New York, NY 10036-8775
All rights reserved. For information about the procedure fo r requesting
permission to make copies o f any part o f this work, please call the AICPA
Copyright Permissions Hotline at 201-938-3245. A Permissions Request Form
fo r emailing requests is available at www.aicpa.org by clicking on the copyright
notice on any page. Otherwise, requests should be written and mailed to the
Permissions Department, AICPA, Harborside Financial Center, 201 Plaza Three,
Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881.
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 0 AAG 0 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0

In This Y e a r’s A le rt..
Economic and Industry Developments
• What are some o f the significant econom ic and industry developments o f
the past year that are relevant to state and local governments? Page 1
Regulatory, Legislative, and Other Developments
• What updates to single audit guidance should auditors know
about? Page 6
• Has the AICPA made any single audit information available in an
electronic form at? Page 12
• Have updated review checklists been issued by the President’s Council
on Integrity an d Efficiency? What are the Inspectors Generalfin d in g in
their reviews o f Circular A-133 audits? Page 13
• Have there been any fin a l or proposed changes to the OMB’s grants
m anagem ent an d cost circulars recently? Page 17
• What are the electronic submission requirements fo r pu b lic housing
authorities, and what are the auditor’s related responsibilities? Page 19
• Are there any recent or upcom ing revisions to Government Auditing
Standards? Page 21
• Are auditors required to audit or review the fin a n cia l information that
is included in a governm ent’s official statement? Page 24
• Has the Federal Aviation Administration updated its Passenger Facility
Charge Program Audit Guide lately? Page 25
• Have there been any Internal Revenue Service developments that
auditors o f state an d local governm ents should know about? Page 2 6
Audit and Attestation Issues and Developments
• What are the AICPA’s new auditing standards that affect state an d
local governments? Page 37
• What proposed AICPA auditing standards m ight be o f interest to
auditors o f state an d local governm ents? Page 42
• Whatfin a l or proposed AICPA attestation standards m ight be o f
interest to auditors o f state and local governments? Page 43

• What conform ing changes have been made to the 2000 edition o f the
AICPA Audit an d Accounting Guide Audits of State and Local
Governmental Units? Page 44
• Have the AICPA's illustrative auditors reports changed because o f
Government Auditing Standards: Amendment No. 2 ? Page 44
• Does the AICPA have any tentative guidance about audit issues
relating to fin a n cia l statements prepared in conform ity with GASB
Statement No. 34? Page 45
• Do governm ents have to disclose currently that their accounting w ill
change in the fu tu re as a result o f new standards that are not y et
effective? Page 48
• Can auditors expect significant changes in a government's internal
control this year? Page 49
• What are some o f the common deficiencies cited in governm ental audit
engagements? Page 51
• Have there been any changes in the AICPA’s audit sampling
guidance? Page 52
Accounting Issues and Developments
• What GASB pronouncem ents becom e effective this year? Page 54
• What other GASB pronouncem ents have been issued recently that you
should know about? Page 54
• What exposure drafts o f proposed pronouncem ents does the GASB have
outstanding? Page 70
• What projects is the GASB working on now? Page 70
• What continuing governm ental disclosure issues should auditors be
especially concerned about? Page 71
• Are there environm ental changes that may affect any ongoing
governm ental disclosure requirements? Page 72
• Is there any new information on perform ance measurements in
governm ent? Page 73
• Are governm ental entities required to use the accounting guidance in
any AICPA Audit an d Accounting Guides other than Audits of State
and Local Governmental Units? Page 74

Where can preparers an d auditors o f governm ental fin a n cia l statements
fin d guidance on im plem enting GASB Statement No. 34? Page 75
How can you help a governm ent help the users o f its fin an cial
statements understand the changes that w ill result from GASB
Statement No. 34? Page 77
Does FASB Statement No. 135 apply to governm ental entities? Page 77

Table o f C ontents
S tate a n d L o c a l G o v e r n m e n t a l D e v e l o p m e n t s —2000................ 1

Economic and Industry Developments............................................ 1
The Good News and the Bad News About the Effects of the
Strong Economy on State and Local Governments................1
Regulatory, Legislative, and Other Developments......................... 6
Single Audit Guidance Update.................................................... 6
OMB Cost Circulars................................................................... 17
HUD Electronic Submission Requirements for Public
Housing Authorities.................................................................. 19
Revisions to Government Auditing Standards...........................21
Securities and Exchange Commission Actions....................... 24
Revisions to Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide............. 25
Recent Internal Revenue Service Activities............................. 26
Audit and Attestation Issues and Developments......................... 37
Recent Auditing Pronouncements............................................ 37
Proposed Auditing Standards..................................................... 42
Attestation Recodification Project............................................ 43
2000 Audit and Accounting Guide Conforming Changes ...44
Revised Yellow Book Reports..................................................... 44
Revision of State and Local Governmental Units Audit
and Accounting Guide............................................................. 45
Effect of New Accounting Standards on Current-Period
Financial Statements and Auditors’ Reports..........................48
Internal Control Issues............................................................... 49
Common Engagement Deficiencies..........................................51
Audit Sampling............................................................................ 52
Accounting Issues and Developments............................................53
GASB Pronouncements, Exposure Drafts, and
Other Projects............................................................................ 53
Continuing Disclosure Issues.................................................... 71

Performance Measurements........................................................73
Superseded Audit Guides Still Required for Accounting and
Financial Reporting Under GASB Standards....................... 74
GASB Statement No. 34 Implementation Guidance............75
GASB Statement No. 34 Users’ Guides...................................77
Application of FASB Statement No. 135 to Governments...77
References for Additional Guidance............................................... 80
AICPA........................................................................................... 80
Governmental Accounting Standards Board...........................86
Federal Agencies—Administrative Regulations...................... 87
General Accounting Office.........................................................88
Office of Management and Budget........................................... 90
Other Guidance........................................................................... 91
PCIE Audit Committee Guidance...........................................92
Government Finance Officers Association.............................. 93
A p pe n d ix — T he I n t e r n e t — A n A u d it o r ’ s R e se a r c h T o o l

.97

State and Local Governmental
Developments— 2000
Economic and Industry Developments
What are some of the significant economic and industry developments
of the past year that are relevant to state and local governments?

The Good News and the Bad News About the Effects of the Strong
Economy on State and Local Governments
The good news is that state governments experienced continued
strong revenue growth in fiscal year 1999. That revenue growth
was fueled by the strong national economy and increased tax rev
enues, mostly on personal income and spending, which grew 5.7
percent in 1999 over 1998. In the aggregate, states had the largest
surpluses in more than twenty years; more than half had surpluses
of at least 5 percent of their fiscal year 1999 spending. However,
the revenue increases that marked most of the 1990s seem to be
slowing very slightly, largely because of legislated tax cuts. In
1999, about 40 percent of the states approved significant tax cuts,
and many others enacted smaller ones. Additional tax cuts have
been enacted or proposed for fiscal year 2000. The states’ Medic
aid costs, a significant budget item for many states, continue to
fall as caseloads decrease, and many states are increasing their ed
ucation spending. The states also have enacted or are considering
various ways to spend the amounts they will receive into perpetu
ity from the national tobacco settlem ent, paym ents of which
began late in 1999.
M any local governments also are benefiting from the good times,
even those with revenues that come prim arily from property taxes
rather than personal income or sales taxes. About 75 percent of
the cities responding to a survey conducted by the N ational
League of Cities indicated they were better able to meet financial
needs in 1999 than in 1998, and about 60 percent expected to do
1

the same in 2000. Not all of this improvement was due to rev
enue growth, however; many local governments (as well as many
states) have been implementing policies to deliver services more
efficiently and to contain costs.
The bad news is that the type of strong economy experienced in
recent years can create various m anagement and audit-related
risks. It may increase citizen, governing board member, and em
ployee expectations, creating greater budgetary pressure than dur
ing lean times. The tight job m arket can create intense wage
pressure and staffing shortages in certain specializations. Staffing
shortages can lead to internal control concerns because they re
duce management’s ability to segregate duties and can lead to in
experienced or unqualified employees performing key functions.
(See Statement on Auditing Standards [SAS] No. 55, C onsidera
tio n o f I n ter n a l C o n tro l in a F in a n cia l S ta tem en t A udit, as
amended by SAS No. 78, C onsideration o f In tern a l C on trol in a
F in a n cial S tatem ent A udit: An A m endm ent to S tatem ent on A udit
in g Standards No. 5 5 (AICPA, P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, AU
sec. 319), for a discussion of the independent auditor’s considera
tion of an entity’s internal control in an audit of financial state
ments in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards
(GAAS), as well as the section of this Audit Risk Alert titled “In
ternal Control Issues.”) Also, healthy revenue increases and sur
pluses can create conditions conducive to hiding embezzlement
or other types of fraud and can cause a government to be less con
cerned with cost-containment controls. (See SAS No. 82, C onsid
era tio n o f F ra u d in a F in a n cia l S ta tem en t A u d it [AICPA,
P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 316].)
Untaxed Internet Sales and Other Electronic Commerce Issues
Although revenues have been increasing, state and local govern
ments are concerned about decreases in future sales and use tax
collections resulting from untaxed Internet sales. A recent study
estimated that retail Internet sales totaled $13 billion in 1998 and
predicted that they would reach $ 184 billion by 2004, or more
than 6 percent of all U.S. retail spending. The study also estimated
that business-to-business electronic commerce (ecommerce)
2

totaled $48 billion in 1998 and would grow to $1.3 trillion by
2003. Projected sales tax revenue lost because of nontaxation of
Internet purchases was estim ated to rise from $91 m illion in
1998 to $1.2 billion in 2003.
The issue of the taxation of Internet sales resulted in the enact
ment of the Internet Tax Freedom Act (Public Law 105-288).
T hat Act, w hich went into effect October 1, 1998, has four
major components:
• A moratorium on federal Internet or Internet-access taxes
• A declaration that the Internet should be free of interna
tional tariffs, trade barriers, and other restrictions
• A three-year ban on new taxes imposed on Internet access and
on multiple or discriminatory taxes on electronic commerce
• The creation of the Advisory Commission on Electronic
Commerce (ACEC) to conduct a study of international,
federal, state, and local taxation strategies for the Internet
and develop recommendations within eighteen months
The ban on new taxes is supported by legislators who take the po
sition that Internet commerce needs protection from the lim iting
effects of taxation. Critics argue that such a ban will result in lost
revenues to state and local governments and inequity between
local retailers and Internet merchants.
After holding various public meetings and requesting proposals
for a simplified system that would allow state and local sales and
use taxes to be collected on Internet sales, the ACEC submitted
its report to Congress in April 2000. Lacking a two-thirds major
ity consensus on m any issues and, thus, unable to send related
recommendations to Congress, the ACEC report, instead, gener
ally includes only suggestions backed by a simple m ajority of
ACEC members. Among its suggestions and recommendations,
the report asks Congress to repeal the federal 3 percent telecom
munications excise tax, permanently prohibit state and local gov
ernments from taxing Internet access fees, extend the existing ban
on Internet taxes, take steps to effect the simplification of state
and local sales and use taxes, and explore privacy issues associated
3

with the collection and adm inistration of taxes on ecommerce.
The report also suggests a list of various activities that should be
permitted without obligating a business to collect and remit state
and local sales and use taxes on remote transactions. To permit
some expression of minority views, the report includes individual
statements from the ACEC commissioners. Congress already is
starting to address these issues.
Help Desk—Information about the ACEC’s activities and its
report to Congress is available on its Web site at http://www.
ecommercecommission.org.
Internet sales are only one aspect of the electronic commerce
issue. Electronic commerce also includes electronic procurement
systems; electronic filing of licenses, registrations, and applica
tions; electronic fee payments; and interactive Web sites, among
others. As electronic commerce increases, the resulting changes in
the way governments operate can affect the government's internal
control environment. (See the discussion in the section of this
Audit Risk Alert titled “Internal Control Issues.”)
Electric Power Deregulation Could Decrease Revenues
Another ongoing issue that state and local governments are tack
ling is deregulation in the electric power industry. Deregulation
forces electric companies to compete for customers rather than op
erate under state-protected monopolies. Deregulation is being im
plemented in more than twenty states and considered in m any
others. As states consider allowing customers to choose among
electric power suppliers, including those from other states, the
power suppliers are asking local governments to reduce franchise
fees or the property taxes paid on generating equipment. Suppliers
say they need these reductions to compete in a deregulated envi
ronment. Such reductions in fees or taxes could negatively affect
state and local government revenues. Deregulation also will affect
state and local government revenues in other ways. For example,
governments often collect utility taxes or charges that are based on
a percentage of sales dollars, which may decrease as competition in
creases. Also, those governments that provide electric service to cus
tomers may lose revenue as local customers choose other suppliers.
4

Outsourcing Concerns
Privatization or outsourcing of functions or services is another
issue that is growing in the governm ental environm ent. The
functions or services that a government may pay other entities to
provide range from the minor, such as collections of delinquent
receivables, to the major, such as garbage collection or all func
tions of the finance department. One significant risk relating to
outsourcing is m anagem ent’s loss of control w ithout a corre
sponding loss of responsibility. For example, outsourcing garbage
collection m ay not shift the responsibility for compliance with
environmental protection laws to the contractor. You should con
sider reviewing outsourcing contracts to understand the responsi
bility of both parties. That review m ay help you to determine
whether there may have been violations of legal and contractual
provisions that could have a direct and material effect on the gov
ernment’s financial statements or if there is a need to report such
violations in compliance audits. Another significant risk is the ef
fect that outsourcing may have on the government’s internal con
trol. See the discussion in the section of this A udit Risk Alert
titled “Recent Auditing Pronouncements” that addresses SAS No.
88, S ervice O rganizations a n d R eportin g on C onsistency (AICPA,
P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 324.03 and 324.06—.10),
the latest auditing guidance concerning the effect of the use of
service organizations on your consideration of an entity’s internal
control.
Executive Summary— Economic and Industry Developments
• Because of the strong economy, many states continue to see increas
ing revenues, leading to surpluses and tax cuts, and many local gov
ernments also are experiencing improved financial positions.
However, the strong economy also can create various management
and audit-related risks.
• Among the issues that governments are currently addressing are tax
ation of Internet sales, deregulation in the electric power industry,
and outsourcing of functions or services.
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Regulatory, Legislative, and Other Developments
Single Audit Guidance Update
What updates to single audit guidance should auditors know about?

2000 Compliance Supplement Issued
The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A -133
C om pliance S u pplem ent (the Supplement) is based on the require
ments of the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 (the Act)
and OMB C ircular A -133 A udits o f States, L ocal G overnm ents,
a n d N on -P rofit O rganizations (Circular A -133), which provide
for the issuance of a compliance supplement to assist auditors in
planning and performing the required audits. The Supplement
identifies existing compliance requirements that the federal gov
ernment expects to be considered as part of an audit in accor
dance with the Act and Circular A -133.
Keeping its commitment to update the Supplement on a regular
basis and to continue to expand the number of programs it in
cludes, the OMB issued a 2000 Supplement in April 2000. For
the 141 federal programs in the 2000 Supplement, information is
included to help you understand the programs’ objectives, proce
dures, and compliance requirements. Part 7 of the Supplement,
“Programs Not Included in This Supplement,” provides guidance
to help you determine compliance requirements relevant to the
audit, audit objectives, and suggested audit procedures for pro
grams not included in the Supplement. The 2000 Supplement
adds twenty-three additional federal programs (some of which re
sult in new or add to existing program clusters) and updates and
revises the information on numerous previously included pro
grams. The 2000 Supplement is effective for audits of fiscal years
beginning after June 30, 1999.
Appendix V of the Supplement lists changes from the 1999 Supple
ment. Among the more significant changes, the 2000 Supplement—
•

Revises references in Part 3, “Compliance Requirements,”
to clarify that all institutions of higher education and hos
pitals (including those that are governm ental) follow
6

OMB C ircular A -1 10, U niform A d m in istra tive R eq u ire
m ents f o r Grants a n d A greem ents w ith Institutions o f H igher
E ducation, Hospitals, a n d O ther N on-P rofit O rganizations.
• Substantially revises the program requirements for Catalog
of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) programs 84.002,
“Adult Education— State Grant Program”; 84.048, “Voca
tional Education— Basic Grants to States”; 93.558, “Tem
porary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF)”; and
93.569, “Community Services Block Grant,” for program
changes resulting from newly effective laws and regulations.
• Adds to Appendix VI an advisory on the impact of the year
2000 on audits of federal awards under Circular A -133.
(See the discussion of this advisory in the following section
of this Alert.)
Help Desk—You may purchase a printed copy of the 2000
Supplement from the Government Printing Office at (202)
512-1800 (Stock No. 041-001-00544-7). You also may obtain
a free electronic copy on the OMB Web site at http://www.
whitehouse.gov/OMB/grants.
Opinion Modifications for Year 2000 Disclosures and
Low-Risk Auditees
Circular A -133 permits entities to qualify as a low-risk auditees
and be eligible for reduced audit coverage if they meet certain
conditions. One condition is that the auditor’s opinion on the
entity’s financial statements for each of the preceding two years is
unqualified, unless the federal cognizant or oversight agency for
audit provides a waiver to that criterion.
However, a qualified or adverse opinion relating solely to a gov
ernm ent’s year 2000 note disclosure (as previously required by
Governmental Accounting Standards Board [GASB] Technical
B ulletin [TB] 98-1, D isclosu res A bout Year 2 0 0 0 Issues, as
am ended), does not preclude the government from qualifying as a
low-risk auditee. The OMB issued an advisory to federal depart
ments and agencies to that effect on August 30, 1999, titled “Im
pact of Y2K on Audits of Federal Awards Under OMB Circular
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A -133.” There is no need for the government to request or obtain
a waiver to qualify for this exception. (See the discussion in the
section of this Audit Risk Alert titled “Accounting Issues and De
velopments” concerning GASB’s rescission of required year 2000
disclosures.)
Help Desk—The Government Accounting Office (GAO) ad
visory about the year 2000 is on its Web site at http://www.
whitehouse.gov/OMB/grants, in the section on Current Pol
icy Documents of Interest, and in Appendix VI of the 2000
Supplement.
Data Collection Form
The submission of a data collection form is a key part of com
pleting a single audit. The data collection form helps the federal
government accumulate information on the thousands of single
audits that are performed.
Help Desk—The data collection form and related instructions
are available from the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (FAC) in
both Microsoft Word and WordPerfect word processing for
mats at http://harvester.census.gov/sac. Preparers are not per
mitted to create their own electronic version of the form.
You also can obtain the form and instructions from the
OMB’s Web site at http://www.whitehouse.gov/OMB/grants.
A printed copy can be obtained from the FAC at (888) 222-9907.
The form number is SF-SAC. Further, you can complete and
submit the data collection form on the Internet at the FAC
Web site as discussed in this section of the Audit Risk Alert.
The Federal Audit Clearinghouse (FAC) is the entity responsible
for receiving data collection forms and report submissions. The
FAC also is responsible for maintaining a database of the infor
mation from the forms. You can access that database on the FAC
Web site at http://harvester.census.gov/sac.
In January 2000, the FAC introduced a process to permit online
submissions of the data collection form on its Web site. You and
the governments you audit can complete your portions of the
form directly on that site, and benefit from online edits on the
8

entered data before submitting the form. In fact, the site does not
permit the form to be submitted online if there are unresolved
edit failures. Although the form is subm itted electronically
through this process, it still needs to be printed, signed and dated
by the auditee and auditor, and mailed to the FAC with the ap
propriate number of audit reporting packages.1 (See the bullet
later in this Alert titled “Federal Agencies Required to Receive the
Reporting Package (Part III, item 5, of the Form)” for a discus
sion of the appropriate number of audit reporting packages.)
The data collection form summarizes the information contained
in the reporting package, including the auditor’s reports and the
auditee's schedule of expenditures of federal awards. Circular A133 requires the auditee to complete and certify sections of the
form that state whether the audit was completed in accordance
with Circular A -133. Further, information is required to be pro
vided about the auditee, its federal programs, and the results of the
audit. You, as the auditor, also are required to complete and certify
certain sections of the form, including information on the results
of the financial statement audit and the audit of the federal pro
grams. It is important for both you and your auditees to carefully
follow the detailed instructions that accompany the form.
Because of numerous errors in the preparation of the data collec
tion forms when they were first introduced, the FAC issued re
vised instructions for the form in November 1998. (No changes
were made to the form itself.) Because of the changes in the in
structions, education, and growing familiarity with the form, the
percentage of forms rejected for errors dropped from 93 percent
when the form was first used to 40 percent in 1999. The FAC ex
pects that rejection rate to drop even further as use of the online
form, which is described above, increases. The reduced rejection
rate also has permitted the FAC to more quickly post the informa
tion from the data collection forms into its database. In January
1. The online form accepts a maximum o f only forty programs or contracts to be listed
in Part III, Items 6 and 7, also known as page 3 o f the form. If a data collection form
is being submitted in hardcopy form (that is, not using the electronic submission
process), the FAC permits those forms to be submitted using a Microsoft Excel
spreadsheet attachment for data on page 3 (Part III, items 6 and 7). For the file lay
out specifications for that Excel spreadsheet, contact FAC at fac@census.gov.
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2000, the FAC had posted the information from approximately
50,000 data collection forms into the database, an increase of
about 35,000 over those posted in January 1999.
Following are some common submission errors that occurred
in 1999:
•

S ubm ission o f p h o to co p ies. Some governments have been
subm itting photocopies of their completed forms, rather
than the form with original auditee and auditor signatures.
Consider reminding the governments you audit to submit
the originally signed form to the FAC.

•

D a tin g signatures (Part I, item s 6 g a n d 7g, o f th e fo rm ). Au
ditees and auditors should date (m onth, day, and year)
their signatures on Part I of the form. Some forms have
been rejected because the signatures were not dated.

•

C ognizant o r oversigh t a gen cy f o r a u d it (Part I, item 9, o f th e
fo rm ). Only recipients expending more than $25 million a
year in federal awards are assigned a cognizant agency for
audit. Because of the size of that threshold, most auditees,
instead, have an oversight agency for audit. Circular A -133
sections .400(a) and .400(b) provide guidance on deter
m ining the auditees cognizant or oversight agency for
audit, which most often is the federal awarding agency that
provides the predominant amount of direct funding. Cog
nizant assignments are established every five years.
For purposes of the data collection form, the cognizant or
oversight agency for audit always is a federal agency. A
nonfederal, pass-through entity never should be identified
as a cognizant or oversight agency for audit. Some auditees
have marked “State” in Part I, item 9, trying to indicate
that a state agency is their cognizant or oversight agency
for audit. M arking “State,” however, inadvertently selects
the U.S. Department of State. Because most of Part I of
the form is completed by the auditee, auditors may wish to
remind the auditee of the proper information to include as
the cognizant or oversight agency for audit.
10

•

F ed era l a g e n cies re q u ire d to r e ce iv e th e r e p o r tin g p a ck a g e
(P art III, item 5, o f th e fo rm ). O nly federal agencies whose
direct awards are affected by current- or prior-year audit
findings should be identified as needing to receive a copy
of the reporting package (described in section .320(d) of
Circular A -133). If no federal agency is required to receive
a copy of the reporting package, the auditor should mark
“None.” Auditees must send the FAC one reporting pack
age for each federal agency identified in Part III, item 5,
plus one archival copy for the FAC.2 For example, con
sider an auditee that has four federal awards that were re
ceived directly from four federal agencies. Further, assume
that the current-year single audit resulted in audit find
ings on one of the four federal awards and that the sum
m ary schedule of prior audit findings included the status
of a prior-year finding related to a second federal award
that had no current-year audit findings. In this example,
the auditee would be required to submit three reporting
packages to the FAC— one for the FAC to retain as an
archival copy, one for the federal agency that provided the
direct federal award that had current-year findings associ
ated with it, and one for the federal agency that provided
the direct federal award for which the summary schedule
of prior audit findings reported the status of a prior-year
finding.
A common error has been for auditors to mark all federal
agencies that provided funding, regardless of whether there
were audit findings from awards provided directly by the
federal agency. Another common error has been to mark
“State” because the auditee is obligated to submit copies of
the reporting package to a state pass-through entity. The
auditor should mark “State” only if there are audit findings
relating to U.S. Department of State programs.

2. You should also note that Circular A -133, section .320(e), provides guidance on
when a subrecipient needs to submit the reporting package or other information to
the pass-through entity.
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As a result of those errors, reports were sent to the FAC
that were not needed, causing an unnecessary paper flow
from the auditee to the FAC and certain federal agencies.
•

F ed era l p ro gra m s (Part III, item s 6 a n d 7 o f th e fo r m ). In
items 6 and 7 of Part III of the form, some auditors are list
ing multiple CFDA numbers on a single line. Sometimes,
the auditors are grouping program clusters, and sometimes
they are grouping all programs received from a single fed
eral agency. Each line item in this section should have a
unique CFDA num ber (or other identifying num ber).
(You should consult the revised instructions for the form
for guidance on handling non-CFDA numbers.)

The data collection form is an OMB form. Every three years the
OMB reviews its forms to determine whether they should be (1)
renewed with their current content, (2) not renewed, or (3) re
newed with content change. The data collection form is subject
to this review process in 2000, and it is likely that you and the
governments you audit w ill see a revised data collection form,
along with revised instructions, later this year. Any changes will
be posted on the FAC and OMB Web sites.
AICPA Single Audit Information
Has the AICPA made any single audit information available in an
electronic format?

You can view or download certain single audit information from
the AICPA Web site at http://www.aicpa.org/belt/a133m ain.htm .
That site has the illustrative auditor's reports from appendix D of
Statement of Position (SOP) 98-3, Audits o f States, L ocal G overn
m ents, a n d N ot-for-P rofit O rganizations R eceivin g F ederal Awards,
updated for the issuance of G o vern m en t A u d itin g S tan dards:
A m endm ent No. 2, A uditor C om m unication. (See the related dis
cussion in the sections of this Audit Risk Alert titled “Revisions
to G overn m en t A u d itin g S ta n d a rd s" and “Revised Yellow Book
Reports.”) You also can obtain electronic versions of the illustra
tive schedules of expenditures of federal awards and schedule of
findings and questioned costs from appendixes C and E of SOP
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98-3, as well as unofficial frequently asked questions and answers
regarding Circular A -133.
Update on President's Council on Integrity and Efficiency
Audit Review Guides and Informal Results o f Recent Reviews
Performed by Inspectors General
Have updated review checklists been issued by the President’s Council
on Integrity and Efficiency? What are the Inspectors General finding in
their reviews of Circular A-133 audits?

It has been several years since the major overhaul to single audit
rules. To obtain more information about audit quality under those
revised rules, many federal Inspectors General (IGs) are increasing
their scrutiny of completed Circular A -133 audits. To assist the
IGs in carrying out this objective, the Presidents Council on In
tegrity and Efficiency (PCIE) issued updated editions of its two
checklists— the U niform G uide f o r I n itia l R eview ofA -1 3 3 A udit
R eports (Initial Review Guide) and the U niform Q uality C ontrol
R eview G uide f o r A -133 Audits (Q CR Guide)— in late 1999.
Federal agencies use the Initial Review Guide when performing
desk reviews of Circular A -133 audit reports. The objectives of
the initial reviews are to (1) ensure that audit reports meet applic
able reporting requirem ents, (2) identify any follow-up audit
work needed, (3) identify audits for potential Q CRs, and (4)
identify issues that m ay require management attention. Federal
agencies use the Q CR Guide as a tool to ensure that the Circular
A -133 audits are conducted in accordance with applicable stan
dards and meet single audit requirements. Before com pleting
your C ircular A -133 audits, consider reviewing the updated
guides to gain an understanding of what the IGs will be looking
for in their reviews. Taking this step will help ensure that your en
gagements meet the criteria identified.
Help Desk—Copies of the PCIE’s Initial Review and QCR
Guides are available on the Internet at www.ignet.gov/ignet/
single/pcie.html.
Although the IGs have not issued any formal reports on what
they are finding in their reviews, we have spoken with several IGs
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about areas that they believe need improvement. A brief discus
sion o f those items follows. Consider reviewing those items to
help ensure that you avoid similar problems in your Circular A133 audits. (See also the section of this Audit Risk Alert titled
“Common Engagement Deficiencies.”)
R isk -B ased A ud it A pproach. In some instances, auditors are not
adequately documenting the risk assessment process for type B
programs. Often the w orking papers contain the conclusions
about the risk of a program but do not document the basis for the
conclusions. For example, the working papers might state that a
program is low risk because the program is not complex; however,
the working papers do not indicate support for that conclusion.
To help auditors, the AICPA Practice Aid A u d itin g R ecip ien ts
o f F ederal A wards: P ra ctica l G uidance f o r A pplying OM B C ircular
A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Or
ganizations (Product No. 008730kk), includes a checklist and
worksheets for type A and type B program risk assessments.
Also, some auditors are not making type B program risk assess
ments on an individual program basis but, rather, are making the
assessments on a global basis. M aking assessments on a global
basis is not consistent with the Circular A-133 requirements to
assess program risk on an individual program basis.
Last, in several cases, auditors based their type A and B program de
terminations on budgeted or appropriated expenditure amounts
instead of actual expenditures as required by Circular A-133.
I n te r n a l C o n tro l Circular A-133 requires the auditor to plan the
testing of internal control over compliance for major programs to
support a low assessed level of control risk for the assertions rele
vant to the compliance requirements for each major program. In
some cases, the IGs are finding that the basis for the audit proce
dures performed and how those procedures relate to a low as
sessed level of control risk are not documented in the working
papers.
Other situations noted include those in which it appears that in
ternal control testing is performed on internal control over finan
cial reporting, but not internal control over com pliance for
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federal programs. Note that Circular A -133 requires testing of
the internal control over compliance for federal programs unless
the auditor finds it is likely to be ineffective in preventing or de
tecting noncompliance. In that case, the auditor would report a
reportable condition, assess the related control risk at the maxi
mum, and consider whether additional compliance tests are re
quired because of ineffective internal control.
C o m p lia n ce S u p p lem en t. Parts 3 and 4 of the C om plian ce Sup
p le m e n t (the Supplement) describe various audit objectives for
auditors to consider in carrying out their Circular A -133 audits.
The IGs are noting instances when the tests performed by the au
ditor do not appear to be related to the applicable audit objectives
identified in the Supplement.
Also, the IGs are finding that some auditors are failing to use cer
tain applicable parts of the Supplement. As a refresher, consider
reviewing Parts 1, 2, and 3 of the Supplement, which describe
how to use it.
A udit S am pling. In general, the IGs are noting an overall lack of
documentation with regard to sampling in the following areas:
•

Plan and methodology

•

Basis for sample size

• Rationale for item selection
• Analysis of exceptions
•

Conclusions

Also, in reviewing working papers, sometimes the IGs are finding
that there is no indication of which tests are tests of internal con
trol versus tests of compliance. This situation is especially notice
able when auditors use dual-purpose testing.
SAS No. 41, W orking Papers (AICPA, P rofession al Standards, vol.
1, AU sec. 339), provides guidance on documentation of audit
procedures. You also m ay w ant to consider referring to the
AICPA’s Auditing Practice Release (APR), A udit S am plin g (Prod
uct No. 0 2 1 0 6 1kk), which provides guidance to help auditors
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apply audit sampling in accordance with SAS No. 39, A udit Sam 
p lin g (AICPA, P rofession a l Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 350). Al
though neither SAS No. 39 nor the A udit Practice Release
includes specific documentation requirements, the Release does
include examples of items that you might consider documenting
in tests o f controls and substantive tests. (See also SOP 98-3,
paragraphs 3.18 through 3.22, for a discussion of the internal
control documentation requirements and working paper stan
dards from G overnm ent A uditing Standards.)
R ep o rtin g A u d it F indings. Circular A -133 is very specific about
what needs to be reported as an audit finding. The audit finding
requirements are described in paragraph 10.63 of SOP 98-3. In
their reviews, the IGs are noting problems in this area. For exam
ple, some auditors are not reporting items that meet the defini
tion of a reportable audit finding under Circular A -133 because
the auditee either already has corrected the problem or plans to
correct it in the next reporting period. Regardless of whether an
auditee corrects an audit finding, C ircular A -133 requires the
finding to be reported in the schedule of findings and questioned
costs. Further, some auditors are including reportable audit find
ings in their management letter instead of in the schedule of find
ings and questioned costs. Including reportable audit findings
only in the management letter is not appropriate.
Also remember that Circular A -133 requires auditors to follow
up on prior-year findings; perform procedures to assess the rea
sonableness of the summary schedule of prior-year audit findings
prepared by the auditee; and report, as a current-year audit find
ing, when the auditor concludes that the summary schedule of
prior-year audit findings m aterially misrepresents the status of
any prior audit finding. The IGs are noting that auditors, in cer
tain cases, are not documenting that follow-up.
State “Single Audit” Requirements
Some states have their own “single audit” legislation or regula
tions addressing the requirements for compliance audits of state
financial assistance. It is important for you to be aware of such
state-specific requirements that affect the governments you audit.
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Com
pliance Auditing Considerations in Audits o f Governmental Entities
and Recipients o f Governmental Financial Assistance (A IC P A , Pro
fessional Standards, vo l. 1, A U sec. 8 0 1 ) . T h e S A S requires y o u to
In ad d itio n , y o u sh o u ld fo llo w th e guidance o f S A S N o. 7 4 ,

exercise due profession al care in en su rin g th at y o u an d m anage
m e n t u n d e rs ta n d th e ty p e o f e n g a g e m e n t to be p e rfo rm e d
(A IC P A ,

Professional Standards,

vo l. 1, A U sec. 8 0 1 . 2 1 ) . If, d u r

ing a G A A S au d it o f the fin an cial statem ents, y o u becom e aw are
th at th e e n tity is subject to an au d it req u irem en t th at m a y n o t be
encom passed in th e term s o f th e engagem ent, y o u sh o u ld c o m 
m u n icate to m an ag em en t an d the au d it co m m ittee, o r to others
w ith eq u ivalen t a u th o rity an d responsibility, th at an au d it in ac
cord an ce w ith G A A S m a y n o t satisfy th e relevan t legal, reg u la
tory, o r co n tractu al req u irem en ts (A IC P A ,

Professional Standards,

vo l. 1, A U sec. 8 0 1 .2 2 ) .

OMB Cost Circulars
Have there been any final or proposed changes to the OM B’s grants
management and cost circulars recently?

Circular A -110
O M B issued a revised C irc u la r A - 1 1 0 o n S e p te m b e r 3 0 , 1 9 9 9
(p u b lis h e d in th e O c to b e r 8 , 1 9 9 9 ,

Federal Register at

6 4 FR

5 4 9 2 6 ) . T h e C irc u la r states th a t it is effective fo r aw ards issued
a fte r N o v e m b e r 6 , 1 9 9 9 , as w e ll as fo r c o n tin u in g a w ard s re 
n ew ed after th at date. H ow ever, because m o st g ran t agreem ents
d o n o t refer to C irc u la r A - 1 1 0 itse lf b u t rath er to an agency’s co d 
ificatio n o f the C ircu lar, the p rovision s are effective fo r aw ards is
su ed th i r t y d ays a fte r th e p ro v is io n is c o d ifie d b y th e fe d e ra l
agencies. Fifteen agencies am en d ed th e ir cod ification s o f C irc u la r
A - 1 1 0 o n M a rc h 1 6 , 2 0 0 0 . T h e re fo re , th e ir revised reg u latio n s
are effective fo r aw ards issued after A p ril 1 7 , 2 0 0 0 , as w ell as fo r
co n tin u in g aw ards ren ew ed after th a t date.
T h e revision requires th e en tities su b ject to the C ircu lar, w h ic h
in clu d e g o vern m en tal (public) colleges an d universities an d hos
pitals, to m ake certain research-related records available to federal
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agencies for public disclosure under the Freedom of Information
Act (FOIA). The revision was required by a provision of the
OMB's appropriation for fiscal year 1999.
In its notice of the final revision to Circular A -110, the OMB ad
dressed the issue of reimbursing a recipients costs of complying
with an FOIA request. Such costs would be charged to the af
fected federal award unless the award's funding period expires be
fore a request is made. OM B suggests that federal awarding
agencies and grantees have a separate agreement to cover the full
incremental cost of responding to the request if the award's fund
ing period has expired.
Circular A-21
OMB also proposed a revision to Circular A-21, Cost P rinciples f o r
E ducational Institutions, in the summer of 1999 (published in the
August 12, 1999, F ederal R egister at 64 FR 44062) to change how
many colleges and universities submit their proposals for indirect
cost rates (also called facilities and administrative [F&A] rates).
The revision, which is expected to be finalized during 2000, would
require a standard format for subm itting F&A rate proposals.
OMB believes that a standard format would help institutions more
efficiently complete the indirect cost rate proposals, allow federal
cognizant agencies to review those proposals on a more consistent
basis, and perhaps even allow electronic submissions of those pro
posals in the future. The proposed standard format, which would
become appendix C of Circular A-21, includes two parts: (1) a
summary schedule of the institutions proposed F&A rates, along
with the F&A cost pools and their allocations; and (2) a listing of
supporting documents to be subm itted w ith the proposal. Al
though the revision to A-21 proposed that the standard format
would be required for F&A proposals submitted on or after July 1,
2000, it is likely that the effective date will be extended to propos
als submitted on or after July 1, 2001. Also, the standard format
would not apply to institutions that use the simplified method for
calculating F&A rates as described in section H of Circular A-21. A
cognizant agency would be able to grant individual institutions ex
ceptions from the standard format requirement.
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O th er C ost C ircu la r A ctivity. OMB has put on hold its project
to combine the three cost principles circulars (A-21 for educa
tional institutions; A-87 for state, local, and Indian tribal govern
ments; and A -122 for nonprofit organizations) into a single
circular because of concerns expressed by federal agencies regard
ing the diverse nature of grantees and, accordingly, differing
treatments of certain items of cost. The OMB will conduct a re
view to improve the consistency of costs in those three circulars.
The OMB and the federal agencies are beginning to review the
format and content of all application and reporting forms re
quired by grant programs, and the feasibility of submitting those
forms electronically. That review is the first step in implementing
Public Law 106-107, the Federal Financial Assistance M anage
ment Improvement Act of 1999.
HUD Electronic Submission Requirements for Public
Housing Authorities
What are the electronic submission requirements for public housing
authorities, and what are the auditor’s related responsibilities?

As noted in A u d it Risk A lert S ta te a n d L o ca l G o v e r n m e n ta l
D e v e lo p m e n ts — 1999, the U .S. D epartm ent of H ousing and
Urban Development (HUD) published revised Uniform Finan
cial Reporting Standards (UFRS) for HUD Housing Programs
(see F ederal Register, September 1, 1998, at 63 F.R. 46581). The
revised standards establish uniform annual financial reporting
standards for H U D ’s public housing, section 8 housing, and m ul
tifamily insured housing programs. As a result of the revised stan
dards, public housing authority (PHA) project owners of
HUD-assisted housing (which already, under long-standing regu
latory and contractual requirements, submit financial informa
tion on an annual basis to HUD) are required to submit financial
information electronically to HUD via a template known as the
Financial Data Schedule (FDS).
The Real Estate Assessment Center (REAC) is the HUD national
m anagement center created to receive and evaluate FDS elec
tronic submissions and to assess the condition of HUD-owned
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and -assisted developments. To ensure accuracy and consistency
of the FDS data in the assessment process for PHA assets, REAC
requires—
• Audited annual basic financial statements prepared in con
form ity w ith generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) for governmental entities, as prescribed by the
GASB.
• Attestation by auditors on FDS data as to their “fair pre
sentation in relation to audited basic financial statements”
in accordance with the audit provisions of SAS No. 29, Re
p o r tin g on In fo rm a tio n A ccom p a n yin g th e B asic F in a n cia l
Statem ents in A uditor-S ubm itted D ocu m en ts (AICPA, P ro
fessio n a l Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 551).
• A separate attestation agreed-upon procedures engagement
under Statem ent on Standards for A ttestation Engage
ments (SSAE) No. 4, A greed-U pon P rocedures E ngagem ents
(AICPA, P ro fessio n a l S tandards, vol. 1, AT sec. 600), in
which the auditor compares the PHA’s electronically sub
mitted data in the REAC staging database to the hard copy
of the audit report and FDS.
PHA electronic FDS submission requirements became effective
for fiscal years ending on or after September 30, 1999. A PHA
m ust subm it its prelim inary FDS electronically w ithin two
months after its fiscal year end based on unaudited information.
No auditor involvement is necessary for that unaudited submis
sion. Note, however, that HUD has granted an automatic onemonth extension for PHAs w ith fiscal years ending September
30, 1999, through June 30, 2000. A final FDS based on audited
financial statements must be electronically submitted within the
earlier of thirty days after receipt of the auditor’s report or nine
months after a PHA’s fiscal year end (pursuant to C ircular A133). It is this final submission on which the auditor performs a
separate attestation agreed-upon procedures engagement. The
auditor’s agreed-upon procedures report is prepared and submit
ted to HUD electronically.
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REAC has issued a document titled G uidelines f o r P u b lic H ousing
A uthorities a n d In d ep en d en t Auditors, which provides guidance on
the detailed requirements for electronic submission and the audi
tor's involvement in the process.
Help Desk—The AICPA provided input into the Guidelines as
HUD developed it, particularly on the auditor report templates.
A copy of the Guidelines can be obtained from the REAC Web
site at http://www.hud.gov/reac/pdf/fass_ph_guideufrs.pdf. Ad
ditional information regarding the activities of REAC and how
they affect HUD programs and audits of HUD programs is
available on the REAC Web site at http://www.hud.gov/reac.
Further assistance on the electronic submission requirements is
available by contacting the REAC Customer Service Center at
(888) 245-4860.
Revisions to Government Auditing Standards
Are there any recent or upcoming revisions to Government Auditing
Standards?

G o vern m en t A u d itin g S tan d ards Amendments
In 1999, the General Accounting Office (GAO) issued two
amendments to the 1994 G overn m en t A u d itin g S tandards (also
known as the Yellow Book), the set of standards to follow when
required by law, regulation, agreement, contract, or policy for the
audits of various entities, including state and local governments.
The GAO has codified those two amendments into the body of
its Yellow Book. A printed copy of that updated Yellow Book
codification is not available yet, but you can download a free elec
tronic version from the GAO Web site at http://www.gao.gov/
govaud/ybkOl.htm. You also can order printed copies of the two
amendments or download free electronic versions. (See “Refer
ences for A dditional G uidance” at the end of this A udit Risk
Alert.)

.

A m en d m en t No. 1 The first amendment, titled G overnm ent Au
d itin g Standards: A m endm ent No. 1, D ocu m en tation R equirem ents
W hen Assessing C ontrol Risk a t M axim um f o r C ontrols S ignificantly
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D epen den t Upon C om puterized Inform ation Systems, is effective for
financial statement audits of periods ending on or after September
30, 1999. It establishes a new field work standard that requires
certain information to be documented when financial data signif
icantly depends upon computerized information systems.
SAS No. 55, as amended, requires auditors to document their
basis for conclusions when control risk is assessed below maxi
mum . However, SAS No. 55, as amended, does not impose a
similar requirement for assessments of control risk at maximum.
Amendment 1 adds the following field work standard:
In planning the audit, auditors should document in the work
ing papers (1) the basis for assessing control risk at the maxi
mum level for assertions related to material account balances,
transaction classes, and disclosure components of financial
statements when such assertions are significantly dependent
upon computerized information systems; and (2) considera
tion that the planned audit procedures are designed to achieve
audit objectives and to reduce audit risk to an acceptable level.
The Advisory Council on Government Auditing Standards, the
group that advises the GAO on changes to the Yellow Book, be
lieves that requiring the documentation specified in Amendment
1 w ill help ensure that auditors do not inadvertently rely on
computer-generated evidence in conducting substantive testing.
The intent of the standard is not to replace auditors’ judgment in
planning the audit, but to assist auditors in ensuring the soundness
of their planned audit procedures when significant accounting ap
plications are supported by computerized information systems.
The standard also incorporates, where applicable, conforming
changes to recognize the effect of SAS No. 78 on the Yellow
Book— principally updating terminology to conform with SAS
No. 78 and deleting guidance that is addressed in SAS No. 78,
which was issued after the 1994 version of G overn m en t A uditing
Standards.
A m en d m en t No. 2. The second amendment, titled G overn m en t
A uditing Standards: A m endm ent No. 2, A uditor C om m u n ication, is
effective for financial statements audits of periods ending on or
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after January 1, 2000. It establishes a field work standard (by
amending and expanding what previously had been a reporting
standard) and amends a reporting standard to improve auditor
com m unication concerning the auditor’s work on compliance
with laws and regulations and internal control over financial re
porting.
SAS No. 83, E sta b lish in g a n U n d ersta n d in g W ith th e C lien t
(AICPA, P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 310.05—.07), as
amended by SAS No. 89, A udit A djustm ents (AICPA, P rofessional
Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 310.06), requires auditors to establish
an understanding with the client regarding the services to be per
formed. SAS No. 61, C o m m u n ica tio n W ith A u dit C om m ittees
(AICPA, P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 380), as amended
by SAS No. 89 (AICPA, P rofession al S tandards, vol. 1, AU sec.
380.09-.10), requires auditors to determine that certain matters
related to the conduct of the audit are communicated to those
who have responsibility for oversight of the financial reporting
process. (See the discussion of SAS No. 89 in the section of this
Audit Risk Alert titled “Recent Auditing Pronouncements.”) The
new field work standard in Amendment No. 2 broadens the par
ties with whom the auditor must communicate to include the au
ditee (which it defines) and the individuals contracting for or
requesting the audit services. The new standard also requires the
auditor to communicate specific information regarding the na
ture and extent of planned testing and reporting on compliance
with laws and regulations and internal control over financial re
porting. This communication must take place during the plan
ning stages o f the audit. W ritten com m unication is preferred,
although not required. The Advisory C ouncil believes this
amendment will reduce the risk that the needs or expectations of
the parties involved may be misinterpreted.
Amendment No. 2 also requires that when auditors issue separate
reports on compliance w ith laws and regulations and internal
control over financial reporting, the report on the financial state
ments should state that they are issuing those additional reports.
The report on the financial statements also should state that the
reports on compliance w ith laws and regulations and internal
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control over financial reporting are an integral part of a generally
accepted government auditing standards audit, and in consider
ing the results of the audit, those reports should be read along
with the auditors’ report on the financial statements. The Advi
sory Council believes this amendment will highlight the impor
tance o f the auditor’s reports on com pliance w ith laws and
regulations and internal control over financial reporting required
under G overn m en t A u d itin g Standards. Because of this Amend
ment, the AICPA has revised certain illustrative auditor’s reports
in the Audit and Accounting Guide A udits o f State a n d L ocal Gov
ern m en ta l Units and SOP 98-3. See the related previous discus
sion at “AICPA Single Audit Information” and in the section of
this Audit Risk Alert titled “Audit and Attestation Issues and De
velopments.”
Other Efforts o f the Advisory Council on Government
Auditing Standards
Other topics currently on the Advisory C ouncil’s agenda that
could result in the issuance of exposure documents this year in
clude auditor independence and performance auditing. Check
the GAO Web site or watch fixture issues of the AICPA’s J o u rn a l
o f A ccountancy and CPA L etter for status updates.
Securities and Exchange Commission Actions
Are auditors required to audit or review the financial information that is
included in a government’s official statement?

Although Congress exempted offerings of m unicipal securities
from the registration requirements and civil liability provisions of
the Securities Act of 1933, and a mandated system of periodic re
porting under the Securities Act of 1934, it did not exempt trans
actions in municipal securities from the coverage of the antifraud
provisions of those acts. If you are involved with a governmental
entity’s issuance of an official statement, be aware that during the
last several years the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
has ordered several large local governments to cease and desist
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certain financial reporting practices that it claimed violated the
antifraud provisions.
Auditors are not required to participate in or undertake any pro
cedures with respect to an official statement, except in certain sit
uations. Refer to chapter 19, “Association W ith Financial
Statements Included in Official Statements,” of the Audit and
Accounting Guide A udits o f State a n d L ocal G overn m en tal Units
W ith C on form in g C hanges as o f M ay 1, 2000 for a description of
those situations and for guidance on your responsibilities with re
gard to a government's official statement.
Although not required, some firms have begun to include a pro
vision in the engagement letter requiring the government to ob
tain consent from the auditor before using the independent
auditor's report in the official statement. W hen developing audit
engagement letters, auditors also should consider the guidance in
SAS No. 83, as amended by SAS No. 89.
Revisions to Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide
Has the Federal Aviation Administration updated its Passenger Facility
Charge Program Audit Guide lately?

Passenger facility charges (PFCs) are the $1 to $3 fee added to
many airline passengers’ airfare. The airlines collect these fees and
submit them to the appropriate airports, which use them for cer
tain airport projects. Those of you who audit public airports
should be aware that the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)
is updating its audit guide, P assenger F acility C harge A udit G uide
f o r P u b lic A gencies. Among other things, that guide provides audi
tors with a comprehensive set of procedures for auditing a public
airports PFCs in accordance with the requirements of 14 Code of
Federal Regulations (CFR), Part 158, “Passenger Facility Charges.”
One of the main purposes of the guide revision will be to update
it for the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996, the 1997 revi
sions to OMB Circular A -133, and recent revisions to G overn
m en t A uditing Standards. The revision also will clarify the scope
of a PFC audit.
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W hen engaged to audit PFC accounts, you are required, among
other things, to report on the fairness and reasonableness of the
airport’s procedures for receiving, holding, and using PFC rev
enues. PFC regulations allow the PFC audit to be performed as a
separate audit or as part of an audit under the Single Audit Act
Amendments of 1996. The guide revision will clarify that, under
the second option, PFCs are not considered to be federal awards
as defined by OMB Circular A -133, and that the compliance re
quirements of the OMB C om pliance S upplem en t do not apply to
the PFC program. Further, due to inconsistencies between the
PFC program and the requirements of A -133, the guide also will
recommend that PFC expenditures be reported in a separate
schedule of PFC expenditures and that related findings and ques
tioned costs be reported in a separate schedule of PFC findings
and questioned costs. Auditors w ould report on the separate
schedule of PFC expenditures in relation to the airport’s financial
statements taken as a whole.
The FAA is expected to issue interim guidance for public com
ment in the F ederal R egister during the second quarter of 2000.
Once final comments are submitted and reviewed by the FAA,
final guidance is expected to be issued in m id-2001. Watch for
developments in this area.
Help Desk—The Web site address for the FAA’s Office of Air
ports’ PFC Branch, which is responsible for developing policy
and procedures associated with the implementation of the
PFC program by airports, airlines, and the FAA, is http://
www.faa.gov/arp/530home.htm.
Recent Internal Revenue Service Activities
Have there been any Internal Revenue Service developments that
auditors of state and local governments should know about?

Tax Exempt and Governmental Entities Division
As part o f its m odernization plan, the Internal Revenue Ser
vice (IRS) has created the Tax Exempt and Government Enti
ties (TE/GE) Division, w hich w ill have three segments to deal
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separately with exempt organizations, employee plans, and gov
ernmental entities. The divisions mission is “to provide Tax Ex
empt and Governmental Entities customers top quality service by
helping them understand and comply with applicable tax laws
and to protect the public interest by applying the tax law with in
tegrity and fairness to all.” W ith the focus on customer service in
the division’s mission, its tax compliance strategy will mix educa
tional outreach activities with its traditional enforcement activi
ties. T hat is, when the division identifies significant tax
compliance issues, it not only will undertake efforts to identify
and correct individual instances of noncompliance, it also will ed
ucate the governmental community about the nature of the re
quirements and ways to improve individual compliance.3
Tax-Exempt Bond Issues
Tax-exempt bond issuances are subject to m yriad IRS require
ments. The IRS’s enforcement activities against governmental en
tities include reviews of tax-exempt bonds for yield burning and
arbitrage as well as for appropriate use of the bond proceeds.
• Yield burning occurs when the prices governments pay for
escrow securities on refunded bonds are artificially inflated
to lower the investment yield below the bond yield, thus
avoiding illegal arbitrage. Yield burning apparently prolif
erated in the early 1990s. Most observers believe, however,
that the practice has not occurred since attracting the at
tention of the IRS a few years ago.
• Arbitrage is the excess profit earned from the investment of
tax-exempt bond proceeds in higher-yielding obligations
and is prohibited in certain cases. In other cases, arbitrage
earnings are permitted, so long as those earnings are peri
odically “rebated” to the federal government.
3. One part o f the TE/GE Division’s approach to meeting its new mission is to solicit
input from governments and professional and membership associations concerned
with governments on outreach techniques and topics. Should you or the govern
ments you audit have suggestions for the division in this regard, contact Allen Jones,
the division’s director o f state and local government relations, at (202) 622-6162 or
allen.jones@irs.gov.
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The SEC also has been concerned with yield burning, based on
the perspective that securities dealers must be overcharging their
customers for yield burning to occur. In April 2000, more than a
dozen securities firms agreed to pay more than $120 m illion to
the U.S. Treasury to settle the federal government's investigations
into yield burning. Consequently, the affected m unicipal bond
issuers and bondholders will not be subject to any tax liabilities
related to the yield-burning activities.
The provisions of arbitrage law, including the calculation of arbi
trage rebates, are complex and of concern for all entities that issue
tax-exempt debt. Because errors in calculating arbitrage rebate
could result in an additional liability for the issuing entity, you
should become familiar with the IR S 's arbitrage laws and regula
tions, which are in section 148 o f the Internal Revenue Code
(IRC). Because of the com plexity of those requirem ents, you
should consider giving increased audit scrutiny to this area as well
as consulting an arbitrage specialist.
Following, we discuss three recent IRS issuances relating to taxexempt bonds.
•

Regulations published in the December 30, 1998, F ederal
R egister (63 FR 71748) establish a safe harbor against sub
sequent claims of yield burning for guaranteed investment
contracts and U.S. Treasury obligations purchased other
than directly from the U.S. Treasury. To achieve the safe
harbor, issuers must (1) receive three bona fide bids for es
crow securities from providers that have no material finan
cial interest in the bond issue and (2) determine that the
investments purchased cost no more than the yield on
comparable State and Local Government Series (SLGS)
Treasury obligations. Those regulations became effective
March 1, 1999.

•

Revenue Procedure 99-35, “Administrative Appeal of Pro
posed Adverse D eterm ination of Tax-Exempt Status of
Bond Issue,” was issued in September 1999. That proce
dure implements provisions of the 1998 IRS Restructuring
and Reform Act (Public Law 105-206) and provides a
28

process to allow governmental issuers to challenge pro
posed adverse determinations on a bond’s tax-exemption
before the IRS would proceed to tax bondholders. This
revenue procedure was generally well-received by the bond
community. Although it falls short of enabling issuers to
resort to the U.S. Tax Court (for which there is no statu
tory authority), the revenue procedure, nonetheless, pro
vides issuers w ith m uch-needed adm inistrative rights
within the IRS. These rights help assure that no bond is
declared taxable without a full review of the case by senior
IRS personnel.
• The IRS published temporary regulations in the January
22, 1998, F ederal R egister (63 FR 3256) applicable to taxexempt bonds issued after February 23, 1998, to finance
publicly owned utilities. Those temporary regulations are
effective for three years. Among other things, those regula
tions provide that state and local governments may engage
in the following activities w ithout jeopardizing the taxexempt status of the bonds: (1) allowing an independent
operator to operate, manage, and run, but not own trans
mission lines; (2) sell excess generating capacity by nonre
newable contracts to private entities for up to three years;
and (3) enter into certain short-term contracts to supply
power to private users.
Federal Insurance Contributions Act Taxes
Legislation enacted in the 1980s and 1990s greatly expanded the
roles and responsibilities of state and local government employers
with regard to Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) re
porting and Social Security and Medicare coverage. Certain em
ployees of m any governments are now subject to full FICA
(Social Security and Medicare) coverage. Both the Social Security
Administration (SSA) and the IRS are concerned that a sizable
number of public employers m ay not be accurately reporting the
Social Security coverage status of their employees due to the
complex law, complicated changes in the coverage provisions of
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Section 218 of the Social Security Act, and a diminished role of
Social Security administrators.
The problem that results from noncompliance is that the SSA is
obligated to pay retroactive coverage and benefits even though
public employers have not paid Social Security taxes into the trust
funds. You should be aware that the governments you audit may
be liable for past taxes that should have been paid to the trust
fund. The IRS is using education and outreach to encourage gov
ernments to voluntarily identify and correct their reporting of the
Social Security coverage status of their employees. W ith volun
tary compliance, the IRS is less likely to pursue payment of back
taxes. Although the IRS expects that strategy to bring most gov
ernmental employers into voluntary compliance, they m ay con
duct examinations if education and outreach is unsuccessful in
obtaining voluntary compliance.
Employment Taxation Issues
Following are two areas concerning employee taxation for which
the IRS recently has issued proposed or final guidance. You
should consider whether a government’s failure to comply with
these provisions could result in a liability that might be material
to the financial statements.
• E lection workers. In Revenue Ruling 2000-6, using illustra
tive examples, the IRS explains how information reporting
requirements apply to election workers. The ruling dis
cusses when those workers are subject to FICA coverage
and when and under w hat circumstances to w ithhold
FICA and income taxes.
•

T ransportation fr in g es. In the January 27, 2000, F ed era l
R egister (65 FR 4388), the IRS proposed regulations under
IRC section 132(f) to give guidance to employers that pro
vide qualified transportation fringes to employees. Q uali
fied transportation fringes consist of transportation in a
commuter highway vehicle, any transit pass, and qualified
parking provided by an employer to an employee. Those
proposed regulations reflect changes to IRC section 132(f)
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made by the Energy Policy Act of 1992 (Public Law 102486), the Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997 (Public Law 10534), and the Transportation E quity Act for the 21st
Century (Public Law 105-178). Section 132(f) limits the
value of qualified transportation fringes that m ay be ex
cluded from an employees gross income.
The proposed regulations explain two categories of quali
fied transportation fringes for purposes of determining the
amount that is excludable from gross income. In addition,
the regulations indicate the statutory monthly lim it on the
value of the benefits from each category that is excludable
from gross income, including the actual amounts for 1999
and 2000. The am ount by w hich the value of qualified
transportation fringes exceeds the applicable statutory
monthly lim it is included in the employee’s wages for in
come and employment tax purposes. Employers may use
the proposed regulations with reliance.
IRS Rules for Electronic Federal Tax Payments
In the July 14, 1997, F ederal R egister (62 FR 37490), the IRS is
sued rules providing guidance for the electronic depositing of
federal w ithholding taxes, waivers of penalties, and procedures
for enrolling in the Electronic Federal Tax Payment System
(EFTPS). Those rules required state and local governmental em
ployers w ithholding at least $50,000 in em ploym ent taxes in
1995, 1996, and 1997 to begin depositing new tax withholdings
electronically as of January 1, 1997, 1998, and 1999, respectively,
to avoid penalty. In the Ju ly 13, 1999, F ed era l R egister (64 FR
37675), the IRS finalized new regulations to raise the threshold
for EFTPS use from $50,000 to $200,000 for return periods be
ginning after December 31, 1999. Penalties for smaller deposi
tors that were required to make their federal tax deposit
electronically before that change in the threshold will not be en
forced by the IRS through December 31, 1999, for continuing to
use paper coupons to make deposits. However, deposits made
with those paper coupons must still have been made in a timely
manner. Additionally, employers that already are required to use
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EFTPS for deposits beginning Ju ly 1, 1999, w ill be subject to
penalties for deposits due after July 1, 1999. See IRS News Re
lease IR -1999-27 for further information.4
Payments to Attorneys
In the M ay 21, 1999, F ed era l R egister (64 FR 27730), the IRS
proposed regulations to make clarifying amendments to existing
requirements that those who make payments of gross proceeds in
the course of a trade or business to attorneys in connection with
legal services (even if the services are not performed for the payor)
complete a Form 1099-M ISC for each attorney receiving those
payments. (Those proposed regulations define a ttorn ey as a per
son engaged in the practice of law, whether as a sole proprietor,
partnership, corporation, or joint venture.) In addition, the pro
posed regulations would have applied to payments made after
December 31, 1999. However, IRS Notice 99-53 (In tern a l R ev
en u e B ulletin 1999-46, November 15, 1999) extended the effec
tive date o f the proposed regulations to paym ents made after
December 31, 2000. Nevertheless, payments of gross proceeds to
attorneys made after December 3 1 , 1997, are and continue to be
reportable on Form 1099-M ISC pursuant to IRC section
6045(f).
Section 403(b) Tax-Sheltered Annuities
Certain governmental entities, particularly school districts, offer
IRC section 403(b) tax-sheltered annuities to their employees.
The IRS has developed an examination program for employers
offering those annuities. Those exam inations have uncovered
m any deficiencies in employers’ plans, including exceeding the
various contribution limits; noncompliance with distribution re
quirements; inadequate salary reduction agreements; and failure
to offer universal availability of salary reduction programs (be
cause of impermissible eligibility restrictions, mandatory contri
butions, and participant exclusions). As a result, there have been
sizable assessments levied against those employers to prevent the
4. Additional information on the EFTPS can be obtained by contacting EFTPS Cus
tomer Service at (800) 555-4477 or (800) 945-8400.
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programs from being declared taxable to the employees. Note
that not only would an employee be subject to tax, but the gov
ernmental sponsor also can be held liable for employees’ unpaid
tax and can be subjected to penalties for underreporting wages.
You should be alert to potential liabilities that might arise in such
situations. There may be a heightened level of risk, given that the
IRS has confirmed that it will be auditing governmental entities
and has developed a particular focus on school districts, for which
audits are currently underway. Under its new m ission, the
TE/GE Division also is conducting outreach programs on this
area of the tax law.
The IRS’s Tax-Sheltered A nnuity Voluntary Correction (TVC)
program, which began in 1995, gives plan sponsors of section
403(b) annuity plans the opportunity to voluntarily correct any
plan defects. The program was scheduled to conclude December
31, 1998, but IRS Revenue Procedure 99-13 perm anently ex
tended the TVC as part of a comprehensive system for correcting
retirement plans that fail to meet 403(b) requirements because of
operational, demographic, or eligibility failures. In the revenue
procedure, the IRS modified and consolidated several retirement
plan correction methods into the Employee Plans Compliance
Resolution System (EPCRS). These include the TVC, a method
of self-correction without fees or sanctions called the Administra
tive Policy Regarding Self-Correction (APRSC), and a Closing
Agreement Program upon audit with sanctions. Use of the TVC
program or APRSC m ay result in significantly reduced settle
ments with the IRS, compared with assessments based on defi
ciencies discovered during audits performed by the IRS, and can
reduce an employer’s risk of liability.
Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans
In 1996, the provisions of IRC section 457 were amended to re
quire that all assets and income of section 457(b) eligible deferred
compensation plans sponsored by public entities be held in trust
for the exclusive benefit of participants and their beneficiaries.
(Such plans that existed on the date the amendment was enacted—
August 20, 1996— had until January 1, 1999, to establish a
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trust.) The TE/GE Division is hoping to conduct outreach and
examinations for those deferred compensation plans as it gears up
operations. The division also is looking at providing expanding
guidance on those plans through regulations and revenue rulings.
Defined Benefit and Defined Contribution Retirement Plans
In Notice 99-44 (In tern a l R evenue B ulletin 1999-35, August 30,
1999), the IRS issued guidance on the repeal o f IRC section
415(e), which limited contributions and benefits for individuals
participating in both defined benefit and defined contribution
plans maintained by the same employer. That limitation was re
pealed by the Small Business Job Protection Act of 1996 (Public
Law 104-88). The Notice also provides guidance on the defini
tion of compensation for computing limits on contributions and
benefits (resulting from amendments made in Public Law 104-88
to section 415(c)(3)).
Classification o f Employees Versus Independent Contractors
In their efforts to reengineer and streamline operations, m any
governments are using independent contractors more frequently.
The IRS has identified employee versus independent contractor
classification as an area with potentially significant compliance
problems. Auditors should be alert to the potential financial
statement effect that may arise from the inappropriate classifica
tion of independent contractors and the resulting tax liability.
The IRS is continuing a nationwide Employment Tax Outreach
Program begun in 1997 to increase compliance by requiring or
ganizations, including state and local governmental entities, to
properly classify workers as either independent contractors, sub
ject to reporting payments over $600 on Form 1099, or as em
ployees, subject to withholding taxes on Form W -2. Employers
classifying workers as employees must withhold federal income
and FICA taxes from employees’ pay and match the FICA taxes.
Further, the reclassification of a worker from an independent
contractor to employee for federal purposes is likely to cause a
similar reclassification for state tax purposes.
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There have been three significant developments in the classifica
tion area during the last several years. First, the IRS issued guid
ance to its agents regarding worker classification. This guidance
provides practical instructions to IRS agents to help resolve ques
tions regarding who is an employee and who is an independent
contractor. Second, the Sm all Business Job Protection Act of
1996 (Public Law 104-188) modified section 530 of the Revenue
Act of 1978, a relief provision sometimes invoked to enable indi
viduals who are really employees to continue to be treated as in
dependent contractors without consequence to employers. The
changes made to section 530 were generally favorable to employ
ers. Last, the IRS introduced a classification settlement program
(CSP) to provide graduated settlem ent offers in situations in
which section 530 relief m ay or may not be available but an em
ployer has at least consistently reported the affected individuals as
independent contractors. W ith the CSP, settlements m ay be 0
percent, 25 percent, or 100 percent of the assessment, depending
on the strength of the employer’s argument for section 530 re
lief. In addition, future compliance is required. CSP was origi
nally scheduled to be open for two years, beginning March 5,
1996. However, the IRS has said that the CSP has been ex
tended indefinitely.
Employee Severance Plans
The IRS is considering the proper tax treatment of certain em
ployee severance payments made by state and local governments.
In the absence of formal guidance, m any state and local govern
ments maintain plans with the characteristics noted at the end of
this paragraph. Under the belief those plans are “bona fide sever
ance pay plans” within the meaning of IRC section 457(e) (11),
these governments treat the payments as not taxable until the year
in which the participant or beneficiary actually or constructively
receives the amounts. Announcement 2000-1 (In tern a l R even u e
B u lletin 2000-02, January 10, 2000) provides interim guidance
that permits that treatment to continue for existing plans while
the IRS considers the issues. The required characteristics are as
follows:
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• The plan was in existence on December 22, 1999.
• The plan is a broad-based plan m aintained by a state or
local government employer prim arily for non-highly com
pensated employees.
• The plan is non-elective. That is, the plan must not pro
vide the participant with a choice between current and fu
ture compensation.
• The plan has been treated by the government as a bona
fide severance pay plan under section 467(e)(11) for those
years before calendar year 1999 in which the plan was in
existence.
In addition, the plan must satisfy the following three requirements:
1. Payments under the plan are designed to provide supple
m ental income for a transitional period, rather than to
provide retirement income.
2. Payments under the plan are made only after separation
from service with the employer, including retirement.
3. Payments are completed within a short period of time, not
to exceed five years after separation from service.
Executive Summary— Regulatory, Legislative, and Other Developments
• On single audit issues, the OMB has issued a 2000 update of its Cir
cular A-133 Compliance Supplement. In addition, a qualified or ad
verse opinion relating solely to a government’s year 2000 note
disclosure does not preclude it from qualifying as a low-risk auditee,
data collection forms may now be filed online, and a few common
errors continue to arise in the submission of those forms. Further,
the PCIE has issued updated review checklists and federal Inspectors
General are observing some common deficiencies in their desk and
quality control reviews of Circular A-133 audits.
• OMB issued a revised Circular A-110 regarding public access to
some research-related data and has proposed to revise Circular A21 to include a standard format for submitting indirect cost rate
proposals.
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• HUD now requires public housing authorities to electronically sub
mit certain financial information and for auditors to be involved
with those submissions.
• The GAO issued two amendments to the 1994 Government Audit
ing Standards that affect (1) documentation requirements when an
entity’s controls significantly depend on computerized information
systems and (2) auditor communication concerning work on com
pliance with laws and regulations and internal control over financial
reporting.
• The SEC continues to order governments to cease and desist certain
financial reporting practices with regard to municipal bond is
suances. The AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Audits o f State
an d Local Governmental Units With Conforming Changes as o f M ay 1,
2000 describes when auditors are required to participate in or un
dertake procedures with respect to an official statement.
• The FAA continues to work on a revised guide for auditing a public
airport’s passenger facilities charges. A proposal is expected in 2000.
• There are several IRS developments you should know about, includ
ing the creation of a new Tax Exempt and Governmental Entities
Division.

Audit and Attestation Issues and Developments
Recent Auditing Pronouncements
What are the AlCPA’s new auditing standards that affect state and local
governments?

In the past year, the AICPA’s Auditing Standards Board (ASB) is
sued four new SASs. In this section, we discuss the two new SASs
that apply to audits of all entities, including state and local gov
ernments, and one that affects the audits of federal governmental
entities. The fourth, SAS No. 90, A udit C om m ittee C om m u n ica
tions (AICPA, P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 380.03 and
380.11), applies only to audits of SEC registrants and, thus, not
to audits of governments. (A summary of SAS No. 90 is available
on the AICPA Web site at http://www.aicpa.org.)
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SAS No. 88
SAS No. 88, S ervice O rganizations a n d R eportin g on C onsistency, is
a two-part SAS that became effective when it was issued.
Part 1 of SAS No. 88, “Service O rganizations,” is intended to
help determ ine w hat additional inform ation you m ight need
when auditing the financial statements of an entity that uses a
service organization to process transactions. An example of a ser
vice organization is the trust department of a bank that invests
and services assets for an entity and generates information about
those assets that is incorporated in the entity’s financial state
ments. State and local governments use service organizations ex
tensively, for example, to invest bond issue proceeds, to serve as
third-party adm inistrators for employee health insurance pro
grams, and to perform billing services for enterprise activities.
SAS No. 88 updates the language and concepts in SAS No. 70,
S ervice O rganizations (AICPA, P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, AU
sec. 324), to reflect revisions made to SAS No. 55 by SAS No. 78.
SAS No. 70 now states that it is applicable if an entity obtains ser
vices from another organization that are part of the entity’s infor
mation system. It also—
•

Provides guidance to help auditors determine the types of
services that would be considered part of an entity’s infor
mation system.

•

Revises and clarifies the factors a user auditor should con
sider in determining the significance of a service organiza
tion’s controls to a user organization’s controls.

•

Clarifies the guidance on determ ining whether informa
tion about a service organization’s controls is necessary to
plan the audit.

• Clarifies that inform ation about a service organization’s
controls may be obtained from a variety of sources.
Part 2 o f SAS No. 88, “Reporting on Consistency,” clarifies
which changes in a reporting entity warrant a consistency ex
planatory paragraph in the auditor’s report. It amends SAS No. 1,
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C odification o f A uditing Standards a n d P rocedures (AICPA, P rofes
sion a l Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 420, “Consistency of Application
of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles”) to—
•

Conform the list of changes that constitute a change in the
reporting entity (AU sec. 420.07) to the guidance in para
graph 12 of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion
No. 20, A ccounting Changes.

• Clarify that an auditor need not add a consistency explana
tory paragraph to the auditor’s report when a change in the
reporting entity results from a transaction or event, such as
the purchase or disposition of a subsidiary or other busi
ness unit.
•

Eliminate the requirement for a consistency explanatory
paragraph in the auditor’s report if a pooling of interests is
not accounted for retroactively in comparative financial
statements. (However, in these circumstances the auditor
would still be required to express a qualified or adverse
opinion because of the departure from GAAP.)

• Eliminate the requirement to qualify the auditor’s report
and consider adding a consistency explanatory paragraph
to the report if single-year financial statements that report
a pooling of interests do not disclose combined informa
tion for the prior year.
SAS No. 89
SAS No. 89, A udit A djustm ents (AICPA, P rofession al Standards,
vol. 1, AU sec. 310.06, 333.06, 333.16, and 3 8 0 .0 9 -.1 0 ),
amends three SASs and is effective for audits of financial state
ments for periods beginning on or after December 15, 1999, al
though early adoption is permitted.
SAS No. 89 establishes audit requirements designed to encour
age management to record adjustments the auditor aggregates. It
also clarifies management’s responsibility for disposing of finan
cial statem ent m isstatem ents brought to its attention. The
amendments—
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• Add an item to the list of matters in SAS No. 83, “Ap
pointment of the Independent Auditor” (AU sec. 310.06),
generally included in the understanding w ith the client.
That new item indicates that management is responsible
for (1) adjusting the financial statements to correct mater
ial misstatements and (2) affirming to the auditor in the
representation letter that the effects o f any uncorrected
misstatements aggregated by the auditor during the cur
rent engagement and pertaining to the latest period pre
sented are im m aterial, both in divid ually and in the
aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole.
• Add an item to the list in SAS No. 85, M a n a gem en t R epre
sen ta tion s (AICPA, P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec.
333.06), of matters that should be addressed in a represen
tation letter in connection with a financial statement audit.
That item is management's acknowledgement that it be
lieves that the effects of any uncorrected financial state
ment misstatements aggregated by the auditor during the
current engagem ent and pertaining to the latest period
presented are immaterial, both individually and in the ag
gregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole. It also
requires that a summary of the uncorrected misstatements
be included in or attached to the letter.
•

Require the auditor to inform the audit committee, as de
fined in SAS No. 61, C om m unication w ith A udit C om m it
tees (AICPA, P ro fessio n a l S tandards, vol. 1, AU sec.
380.09—.10), about uncorrected misstatements aggregated
by the auditor during the current engagement and pertain
ing to the latest period presented that were determined by
management to be im m aterial, both individually and in
the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole.

In applying the provisions of SAS No. 89 to audits of govern
mental entities, you should note the provisions of AICPA Audit
and Accounting Guide A udits o f S tate a n d L oca l G overn m en ta l
Units, paragraph 3.12, which states that “audit scope should be
set and m ateriality evaluations should be applied at the fund
type, account group, and discretely presented component unit
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column(s) when reporting on [general purpose financial state
ments] GPFS, or at the individual fund statement level when re
porting on the GPFS, combining and individual fund financial
statements in a [comprehensive annual financial report] CAFR.”
SAS No. 91
In April 2000, the ASB released SAS No. 91, F ederal GAAP H ier
archy, to recognize the Statements of Federal Financial Account
ing Standards issued by the Federal Accounting Standards
Advisory Board (FASAB) as GAAP for the applicable federal gov
ernmental entities. Although SAS No. 91 does not affect state
and local governments, it is of interest to those in the govern
mental community.
The FASAB was organized in 1991 by the U.S. Department of
the Treasury, the OMB, and the GAO to establish financial ac
counting and reporting standards for federal governmental enti
ties. SAS No. 91, which was effective upon issuance, provides
additional details about the components of the GAAP hierarchy
for federal governmental entities.
Auditing Interpretations
The Audit Issues Task Force of the ASB has issued three Interpreta
tions of SASs in the past year. These Interpretations, which are
listed here, are available on the AICPA Web site at http://www.
aicpa.org/ members/div/auditstd/announce/index.htm.
• Interpretation No. 3, “Responsibilities of Service Organi
zations and Service Auditors W ith Respect to Information
About the Year 2000 Issue in a Service Organizations De
scription of Controls,” of SAS No. 70 (AICPA, P rofessional
Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9324.19-.34)
• Interpretation No. 13, “Reference to Country of Origin in
the Auditor’s Standard Report” of SAS No. 58 (AICPA,
P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9508)
• Interpretation No. 7, “Management’s and Auditor’s Responsi
bilities for Related Party Disclosures Prefaced by Terminology
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Such As ‘M anagem ent Believes T hat’,” of SAS No. 45
(AICPA, P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9334)
Proposed Auditing Standards
What proposed AICPA auditing standards might be of interest to
auditors of state and local governments?

Amendment to SAS No. 81 and a Related Audit Guide
The ASB is developing two forms of guidance on planning and
performing auditing procedures for financial statement assertions
about selected financial instrum ents— an SAS and an A udit
Guide. The proposed SAS, which was released in June 1999, is ti
tled A u d itin g F in a n cia l Instrum ents, and would supersede SAS
No. 81, A uditing Investm ents (AICPA, P rofessional Standards, vol.
1, AU sec. 332).
The Audit Guide will show you how to use the proposed SAS’s
framework to address various practice issues. The ASB plans to
issue the SAS and the Audit Guide at approximately the same
time— during the fall of 2000.
Proposed Statement on Auditing Standards— Omnibus
Statement on Auditing Standards— 2000
The ASB issued an exposure draft of a proposed SAS titled O m 
n ib u s S ta tem en t on A u d itin g S tandards— 2000. The proposed
SAS—
• Withdraws SAS No. 75, E ngagem ents to Apply A greed-U pon
P rocedu res to S p ecified E lements, A ccounts o r Item s o f a Fi
n a n cia l S ta tem en t (AICPA, P rofession a l Standards, vol. 1.
AU sec. 622), and its Interpretation in order to consolidate
the guidance applicable to agreed-upon procedures en
gagements in professional standards. The guidance cur
rently in SAS No. 75 will be incorporated in Statements on
Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 4 (AICPA,
P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, AT sec. 600).
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•

A m en d s A U section 5 4 3 to clarify th e p o sitio n o f an au d i
to r o f an investee acco u n ted fo r u n d er th e eq u ity m eth o d .

•

Reports on Audited Financial State
Professional Standards, v o l. 1, A U sec.

A m e n d s S A S N o. 5 8 ,

ments

(A IC P A ,

5 0 8 .0 8 ) , to in c lu d e a referen ce in th e a u d ito r’s re p o rt to
th e c o u n try o f o rig in o f th e acco u n tin g prin cip les used to
prepare the fin an cial statem ents an d o f the au d itin g stan
dards th e a u d ito r fo llo w ed in p e rfo rm in g the audit. It also
w ith d ra w s A u d itin g In te rp re ta tio n N o. 1 3 , “R eference to
C o u n tr y o f O rig in in th e A u d ito r’s S ta n d a rd R e p o rt,” o f
S A S N o. 5 8 (A IC P A ,

Professional Standards, vo l.

1, A U sec.

9 5 0 8 . 5 3 —.5 5 ).
•

Communications Between Predecessor
and Successor Auditors (A IC P A , Professional Standards, vo l.

A m en d s S A S N o. 8 4 ,

1, A U sec. 3 1 5 . 0 2 ) to cla rify th e d e fin itio n o f predecessor
auditor.

Attestation Recodification Project
What final or proposed AICPA attestation standards might be of interest
to auditors of state and local governments?
T h e A S B has n o t issued a n y S tatem en ts o n Standards fo r A tte sta 

Amend
ments to Statement on Standards For Attestation Engagements Nos.
1, 2, and 3 (A IC P A , Professional Standards, vo l. 1, A T secs. 1 0 0 ,

tio n E ngagem ents (SSA E s) since it issued S S A E N o. 9 ,

4 0 0 , an d 5 0 0 ) , in J a n u a ry 1 9 9 9 . H o w ever, in A p ril 2 0 0 0 , th e

Attestation Standards: Revision
and Recodification, to ex tensively am en d S S A E N o. 1, Attestation
Standards (A IC P A , Professional Standards, v o l. 1, A T sec. 1 0 0 ) .

A S B released a p ro p o se d S S A E ,

T h e p ro p o s e d S S A E also w o u ld su p e rse d e a ll o f th e c u rre n t
SSA E s an d re c o d ify (reorg an ize an d ren u m b e r) th e A tte s ta tio n
Stan d ards sections in

Professional Standards. T h e

p ro p o sed SSA E

is a v a ila b le o n th e A I C P A W e b site at h ttp :/ / w w w .aicp a.o rg /
m em bers/div/auditstd/attest.h tm .
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2000 Audit and Accounting Guide Conforming Changes
What conforming changes have been made to the 2000 edition of the
AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Audits of State and Local

Governmental Units?
A n o th e r year, an o th er ed ition o f the A IC P A A u d it and A cco u n tin g
G uid e

Audits o f State and Local Governmental Units, n o w w ith

co n 

fo rm in g changes as o f M a y 1, 2 0 0 0 . W e revised th e G u id e an d
S O P 9 8 - 3 , w h ich is an appendix to the G uid e, fo r the issuance o f
S A S Nos. 8 8 and 8 9 and G o v e rn m e n t A u d itin g Standards A m e n d 
m en t N os. 1 and 2. W e also added explanations o f h o w an A IC P A
task fo rce is revising th e G u id e to in c o rp o ra te th e p ro visio n s o f

Basic Financial Statements—and Man
agement's Discussion and Analysis—-for State and Local Governments,
and 3 5 , Basic Financial Statements—and Management's Discussion
and Analysis—for Public Colleges and Universities, and G A S B Inter
p retation N o. 6 , Recognition and Measurement o f Certain Liabilities
and Expenditures in Governmental Fund Financial Statements. (See
G A S B S tatem en t N os. 3 4 ,

th e discussion ab o u t the G u id e revision p ro ject in the section o f
this A u d it R isk A le rt titled “R evision o f State and Local G o v e rn 
m ental U nits A u d it and A cco u n tin g G u id e .”)
Y ou can get a c o p y o f th e 2 0 0 0 G u id e b y c a llin g th e A I C P A
O r d e r D e p a rtm e n t at ( 8 8 8 ) 7 7 7 - 7 0 7 7 an d ask in g fo r p ro d u c t
n u m b e r 0 1 2 0 6 1 kk.

Revised Yellow Book Reports
Have the AlCPA’s illustrative auditor’s reports changed because of

Government Auditing Standards: Amendment No. 2?
W e have revised th e illu strative a u d ito r’s rep orts o n the fin an cial
statem ents in clu d ed in th e A u d it an d A c c o u n tin g G u id e

Audits o f

State and Local Governmental Entities as o f M a y 1, 2 0 0 0 , and in
Government Auditing Stan
dards: Amendment No. 2, Auditor Communication. (See th e sec

S O P 9 8 - 3 fo r th e changes req u ired b y

tio n in this A u d it R isk A le rt titled “R egulatory, Legislative, an d
O th e r D e v e lo p m e n ts.”) Specifically, in th e p aragraph th at refers
to the

Government Auditing Standards re p o rt o n
44

th e co n sid eratio n

of internal control over financial reporting and tests of compli
ance w ith the provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grants, we added the following final sentence:
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards and should be read in con
junction with this report in considering the results of our audit.
Help Desk—The updated illustrative auditor’s reports on the
financial statements are posted on the AICPA Web site at
http://www.aicpa.org/belt/a133main.htm.
Revision of State and Local Governmental Units Audit and
Accounting Guide
Does the AICPA have any tentative guidance about audit issues relating to
financial statements prepared in conformity with GASB Statement No. 34?

An AICPA task force5 has been working for nearly a year on a
comprehensive revision o f the AICPA A udit and A ccounting
Guide A udits o f State a n d L ocal G overn m en tal Units to address the
audits of basic financial statements and required supplementary
information prepared in conformity with the new governmental
financial reporting model required by GASB Statement No. 34
and associated standards.
Significant issues facing the task force include the level at which to
set materiality for audit planning and reporting purposes, audit
procedures relating to infrastructure assets accounted for using the
modified approach, and illustrative auditors’ reports. (See the fol
lowing subsection “Auditor Reporting Issues Under GASB State
ment No. 34” concerning tentative task force positions on certain
reporting issues.) At present, the task force does not intend to es
tablish new “category B” GAAP6 relating to GASB Statement No.
5. The task force comprises former members o f the AICPA’s Government Accounting
and Auditing Committee and other AICPA members who have significant experi
ence and knowledge in governmental accounting and auditing.
6. See the discussion o f the hierarchy o f GAAP for state and local governmental entities
in SAS No. 69, The M ea n in g of Present Fairly in Conformity W ith Generally Ac
cepted Accounting Principles in th e In d ep en d en t A uditor’s R eport (AICPA, P rofes
sion al Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 4 11).
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34; consequently, the revised Guide may not need to be exposed
for public comment. The task force currently hopes to issue the re
vised Guide, either as an exposure draft for public comment, if nec
essary, or as a final conforming change, sometime early in 2001.
Effective Date
The task force has tentatively decided that the revised Guide
should be effective for audits of financial statements no later than
the fiscal period in which a government is first required to apply
the provisions of GASB Statement No. 34 or 35. Earlier applica
tion would be required if a government early implements State
ment No. 34 or 35 after the issuance of the revised Guide. The
1994 Guide (updated for conforming changes) would remain ef
fective for audits of governments that have not yet and that are
not yet required to implement Statement No. 34 or 35.
Auditor Reporting Issues Under GASB Statement No. 34
The task force that is working to revise the Audit and Accounting
Guide Audits o f State a n d L ocal G overnm en tal Units has received
several inquiries from auditors about the effect on the auditors
report if a government does not fully comply with the provisions
of GASB Statement No. 34. Those questions have focused on
whether and how the auditor’s report should be modified if, for
example, a government presents—
•

Only fund financial statements (focusing on major funds)
following the GASB Statement No. 34 reporting model,
but not government-wide financial statements.

•

Only government-wide financial statements following the
GASB Statement No. 34 reporting model, but not fund fi
nancial statements.

•

O nly combined financial statements by fund type, using
the pre-GASB Statement No. 34 reporting model.

•

Cash or modified cash basis financial statements, but with
out using the formats required by GASB Statement No. 34
for government-wide and fund financial statements.
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N ote: As indicated in the following paragraphs, all the task
force's decisions are currently tentative and ultimately will be sub
ject to review and clearance by the ASB before becoming final.
The tentative results o f the deliberations are included in this
Audit Risk Alert for your information only.
D ep a rtu res F rom GAAP. W hether a government has fully com
plied with the provisions o f GASB Statement No. 34 always is
subject to a materiality determination (which is a major issue for
the task force). In its deliberations to date, the task force has
strongly supported full implementation of GASB Statement No.
34, subject to materiality, for an auditor to issue an unqualified
opinion that the financial statements are in conform ity w ith
GAAP. In addition, the task force tentatively believes that provid
ing less than a full set of financial statements in compliance with
the provisions of GASB Statement No. 34 normally should result
in an adverse opinion on the government’s financial statements.
Further, the task force believes that if the government omits in
frastructure capital assets in the government-wide financial state
ments, the auditor should issue either a qualified or adverse
opinion, depending on the materiality of the omission. Because
for many governments infrastructure would be significant in rela
tion to the governm ent-wide financial statements, an adverse
opinion usually would be appropriate.7
OCBOA F in a n cia l S ta tem en ts. W ith one exception, the task
force tentatively believes that, under the provisions o f SAS No.
62, S pecial R eports (AICPA, P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec.
623), neither the presentation of governmental financial state
ments using the pre-GASB Statement No. 34 reporting model
nor a less-than-complete implementation of the new financial re
porting model is an other comprehensive basis of accounting
(OCBOA). The exception is if the presentation used by the re
porting entity is required to comply with the requirements or fi
nancial reporting provisions of a governmental regulatory agency
to whose jurisdiction the entity is subject.
7. The task force tentatively believes, however, that auditors should be able to continue
to present an unqualified opinion on the financial statements o f a fund and on a de
partment that constitute less than a fund.
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The task force tentatively believes that if a government issues an
OCBOA report using the cash or modified cash basis of account
ing, the auditor should evaluate whether the financial statement
format and disclosures communicate the information required by
GASB Statement No. 34 s format and disclosure requirements. If
that information is not communicated, the auditor should mod
ify his or her opinion on those financial statements. W hether that
modification would be a qualified, adverse, or disclaimer of opin
ion depends on the magnitude and pervasiveness of the omitted
information. However, the task force tentatively believes that the
presumption would be to issue an adverse opinion.
This tentative conclusion is based on SAS No. 62, which requires
that “. . . when the [OCBOA] financial statements contain items
that are the same as, or similar to, those in financial statements
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting prin
ciples, similar informative disclosures are appropriate.” (See also
Interpretation No. 14, “Evaluating the Adequacy of Disclosure in
Financial Statements Prepared on the Cash, Modified Cash, or
Income Tax Basis of Accounting,” of SAS No. 62 (AICPA, P rofes
sion a l Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9623.88—.93.)
Effect of New Accounting Standards on Current-Period Financial
Statements and Auditors’ Reports
Do governments have to disclose currently that their accounting will
change in the future as a result of new standards that are not yet
effective?

Recent GASB standards may cause the governments you audit to
need to make additional disclosures this year, even though they
are not yet required to im plem ent the standards and have not
elected to adopt those standards early.
Interpretation No. 3, “The Impact on an Auditor's Report of an
FASB Statement Prior to the Statements Effective Date,” of AU
section 410 (AICPA, P ro fessio n a l Standards, vol. 1, AU sec.
9410.13—.18) discusses the effect on the financial statements and
the auditor’s report if the future application of an issued standard
w ill require the future restatement o f the financial statements
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because of the retroactive application of the new standard by prior
period adjustment. Although the Interpretation is written in terms
of FASB standards, it is equally applicable to GASB standards.
The Interpretation says that an auditor should not qualify his or
her opinion if an entity does not adopt an FASB standard early.
However, for financial statements that are prepared in conformity
w ith GAAP that are acceptable at the financial-statem ent date
but that will not be acceptable in the future, auditors should con
sider whether disclosure o f the im pending change in principle
and the resulting restatement are data that are essential for a fair
presentation in conformity with GAAP. If you decide that the
m atter should be disclosed and it is not, you should express a
qualified or adverse opinion on conformity with GAAP, as re
quired by SAS No. 58, R eports on A u d ited F in a n cia l S tatem ents
(AICPA, P rofessional Standards, vol. 1, sec. 508.41).
The Interpretation gives you guidance to evaluate whether
prospective changes in GAAP, such as those associated w ith
GASB Statement Nos. 33 and 34, are adequately disclosed. The
Interpretation says that even if the auditor decides that the disclo
sure of the forthcoming change and its effects are adequate and,
consequently, decides not to qualify the opinion, he or she never
theless may decide to include an explanatory paragraph in the re
port if the effects of the change are expected to be unusually
material.
Internal Control Issues
Can auditors expect significant changes in a government’s internal
control this year?

You may encounter significant changes in a government's internal
control this year because o f operational changes. For example,
governments may—
• Have implemented new or significantly redesigned com
puter systems, whether to address the Year 2000 Issue or to
increase efficiency.
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• Be handling transactions, such as license renewals, prop
erty tax and grant receipts, and vendor and payroll pay
ments using electronic methods, including through the
Internet.
• Have instituted a purchasing card program to allow em
ployees to make small dollar purchases.
• Be imaging documents for records retention and retrieval.
•

Have significantly changed programs or operating policies
because of economic pressure to save m oney or due to
staffing shortages in certain specializations.

You should consider the effect of changes on the government’s
internal control when m aking the assessment o f control risk.
SAS No. 55, as amended by SAS No. 78, provides guidance on
the auditor’s consideration of an entity’s internal control in an
audit of financial statements in accordance with GAAS. Among
the internal control issues you m ight consider are the entity’s
policies and procedures to prevent or detect errors and fraud in
electronic payment transactions, including errors and fraud aris
ing from the actions of parties external to the entity. For exam
ple, if vendor paym ents are m ade through vendor-initiated
debits to the entity’s bank account, the entity should have con
trols to ensure that only authorized debits are paid and that
unauthorized debits are identified in a tim ely fashion and re
ported to the financial institution.
Also, w ith increasing com puterization of governmental func
tions, you are increasingly confronted with evaluating evidential
m atter that m ay exist only in electronic format. SAS No. 80,
A m en dm en t to S tatem en t on A u d itin g S tandards No. 31, Eviden
tial M atter (AICPA, P ro fessio n a l S tandards, vol. 1, AU sec.
326.14), provides guidance about auditing the financial state
ments of an entity that transmits, processes, m aintains, or ac
cesses significant inform ation electronically. Further, recent
AICPA Auditing Procedure Studies, The In form a tion T echnology
A ge: E v id en tia l M a tter in th e E lectro n ic E n v iro n m en t (Product
No. 021068kk) and A udit Im p lica tio n s o f E lectron ic D o cu m en t
M a n a gem en t (Product No. 021066kk) provide nonauthoritative
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guidance about that topic. See also the section of this Audit Risk
Alert titled “Regulatory, Legislative, and Other Developments”
for a discussion of recent revisions to G overn m en t A u d itin g Stan
dards relating to computer controls.
Common Engagement Deficiencies
What are some of the common deficiencies cited in governmental
audit engagements?

Following are some deficiencies com m only noted on govern
m ental engagem ents during peer reviews and AICPA Profes
sional Ethics Division investigations of CPA firms. You should
consider reviewing your firm’s policies and procedures to see
whether your governmental engagements also might have these
kinds of issues.
•

Major programs are not properly identified because not all
of the elements of the risk-based approach are used (see
Circular A -133, section .520).

• The required G overn m en t A u d itin g S tandards reports for
internal control or compliance are not prepared or are not
referred to in the report on the financial statements.
• The proper Circular A -133 reports are not included.
• The required com pliance testing is not perform ed or
documented.
•

Internal control and compliance tests, including sampling
applications, are not adequately designed to support the
reports issued.

• The various additional G overnm ent A uditing Standards re
quirem ents for w orking paper docum entation (such as
those in G overnm ent A uditing Standards paragraphs 4.21.3
and 4.35) are not followed.
• The management representation letter is not appropriately
tailored for an audit in accordance with Circular A -133, as
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required by SAS No. 85, as amended by SAS No. 89, and
SOP 98-3, paragraph 6.69.
• The auditor used inadequate or outdated reference mater
ial related to the engagement performed.
•

G overn m en t A u d itin g S tandards continuing professional
education requirements are not met.

• The auditor has not appropriately followed the HUD
audit guide.
•

Particular funds are not correctly accounted for.

See also the section of this Audit Risk Alert titled “Update on
President’s C ouncil on Integrity and Efficiency A udit Review
Guides and Informal Results of Recent Reviews Performed by In
spectors General” for additional related information.
Audit Sampling
Have there been any changes in the AlCPA’s audit sampling guidance?

In 1999, the AICPA issued an APR titled A udit S am plin g (Prod
uct No. 0 2 1 0 6 1kk). This APR, w hich supersedes the A udit
Guide A udit S a m p lin g, provides nonauthoritative guidance to
help you apply audit sampling in accordance with SAS No. 39.
A udit S am plin g provides practical guidance on using both nonsta
tistical and statistical sampling in auditing. You can use the APR
as a reference source if you are knowledgeable about audit sam
pling. Or, if you are new to this area, you can use the APR as an
initial introduction to sampling.
Some of the topics that the APR addresses include sampling ver
sus nonsampling techniques, statistical and nonstatistical sam
pling, determ ination of sam pling size, control of sample risk,
evaluation of sample results, sampling in tests of controls, and
sampling in substantive tests of details.
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Executive Summary—Audit and Attestation Issues and Developments
• Two new SASs—Nos. 88 and 89—may affect your 2000 audits of gov
ernmental entities. SAS No. 90 does not apply to audits of governments.
• SAS No. 91 recognizes FASAB pronouncements as GAAP for the
applicable federal governmental entities.
• The ASB issued exposure drafts of a proposed amendment to SAS
No. 81, a proposed Omnibus SAS—2000, and a proposed amend
ment to the attestation standards.
• The AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Audits o f State an d Local
Governmental Units has been updated for conforming changes as of
May 1 , 2000.
• The AICPA’s illustrative auditor’s reports have been changed for the
effect of Government Auditing Standards Amendment No. 2.
• Audits o f State an d Local Governmental Units is being revised because
of the issuance of GASB Statement No. 34 and associated standards,
and the task force drafting the Guide has some tentative guidance to
offer.
• The governments you audit may have to disclose currently that their
accounting will change in the future as a result of new standards that
are not yet effective.
• You may encounter significant changes in a government’s internal
control this year because of operational changes.
• We have listed some common deficiencies cited in peer reviews and
AICPA Professional Ethics Division investigations of governmental
engagements that you should know about.
• The AICPA replaced the Audit Guide Audit Sampling with an APR
of the same title.

Accounting Issues and Developments
GASB Pronouncements, Exposure Drafts, and Other Projects
The GASB has issued several new governmental accounting and
financial reporting standards recently. Most of those standards are
not effective until after 2000; however, the GASB encourages
governments to apply them earlier. You should determine which
standards the governments you audit have elected to adopt early.
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GASB Pronouncement Effective During 2000
What GASB pronouncements become effective this year?

GASB T e ch n ica l B u lle tin No. 2 0 0 0 -1 . Shortly after the year
began, it became apparent that state and local governments did
not experience significant year 2000 problems. Consequently, in
February 2000, the GASB issued Technical Bulletin (TB) 20001, D isclosures a b o u t Year 2000 Issues—a rescission o f T echnical B ul
letins 98-1 a n d 99-1. TB 2000-1 rescinds the earlier requirement
to make year 2000 disclosures, either in the notes to the financial
statements or as required supplementary information. The provi
sions of TB 2000-1 are effective for financial statements issued
after February 22, 2000.
Despite the rescission of the year 2000 disclosure requirements, if
a government you audit has continuing year 2000 issues, you
should consider the need for disclosure of that situation. The pro
visions of GASB Codification section 2300 require disclosure of,
for example, contingent liabilities and significant commitments.
If you audit a government that is experiencing these types of is
sues, the AICPA’s November 30, 1998, publication T he Year
2000 Issue— C urrent A ccou n tin g a n d A uditing G uidance, which is
available on the AICPA Web site, can continue to provide you
nonauthoritative audit-related guidance. In addition, the SEC’s
Interpretative Release on year 2000 disclosures also would affect
disclosure in that government's public disclosure documents. See
Audit Risk Alert S tate a n d L ocal G overn m en ta l D evelop m en ts—
1999 for an extensive discussion of that SEC publication.
GASB Pronouncements Effective After 2000, W ith Early
Application Encouraged
What other GASB pronouncements have been issued recently that you
should know about?

GASB S ta tem en t No. 33. GASB Statement No. 33, A ccou n tin g
a n d F in a n cia l R eportin g f o r N onex change Transactions, was issued
in December 1998 to establish accounting and financial report
ing standards for nonexchange transactions involving financial
or capital resources (for example, most taxes, grants, and private
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donations). In a nonexchange transaction, a government gives (or
receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value
in return. The principal issue addressed in that Statement is the
timing of recognition of nonexchange transactions.
GASB Statement No. 33 identifies four classes of nonexchange
transactions based on shared characteristics that affect the timing
of recognition:
•

D eriv ed tax reven u es, which result from assessments im 
posed on exchange transactions (for example, income
taxes, sales taxes, and other assessments on earnings or con
sumption)

•

Im p o sed n o n ex ch a n ge reven u es, which result from assess
ments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including in
dividuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions
(for example, property taxes and fines)

•

G o v ern m en t-m a n d a ted n o n ex ch a n ge tra n sa ction s, which
occur when a government at one level provides resources to
a government at another level and requires the recipient to
use the resources for a specific purpose (for example, fed
eral programs that state or local governments are mandated
to perform)

•

Voluntary nonex change transactions, which result from leg
islative or contractual agreements, other than exchanges,
entered into w illingly by the parties to the agreement (for
example, certain grants and private donations)

GASB Statement No. 33 also distinguishes between two kinds of
stipulations on the use of resources: time requirements and purpose
restrictions. Time requirements affect the timing of recognition of
nonexchange transactions; purpose restrictions affect the reporting
of net assets, equity, or fund balances, as appropriate, but should
not affect when a nonexchange transaction is recognized.
The timing of recognition for each class of nonexchange transac
tion is discussed in the following sections. For revenue recogni
tion, the standard for accrual-basis recognition is indicated,
followed by the standard for modified accrual-basis recognition.
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•

Derived tax revenues tim ing is as follows:
- Assets should be recognized when the underlying ex
change transaction occurs or resources are received,
whichever is first.
-

Revenues should be recognized when the underlying
exchange transaction occurs. (On the modified accrual
basis o f accounting, revenues should be recognized
when the underlying exchange has occurred and the re
sources are available.) Resources received before the un
derlying exchange has occurred should be reported as
deferred revenues (liabilities).

• Imposed nonexchange revenues tim ing is as follows:
- Assets should be recognized when the government has
an enforceable legal claim to the resources or resources
are received, whichever is first.
-

•

Revenues should be recognized in the period when use
of the resources is required or first permitted by time re
quirements (for example, for property taxes, the period
for which they are levied), or at the same time as the as
sets if the government has not established time require
ments. Resources received or recognized as receivable
before the time requirements are met should be reported as
deferred revenues. (When modified accrual accounting is
used, resources also should be available. For property taxes
on the modified accrual basis, governments should apply
NCGA Interpretation 3, R evenue R ecognition— P rop erly
Taxes, as amended by GASB Interpretation No. 5, Prop
erty Tax R evenue R ecognition in G overnm ental Funds. [See
the discussion of GASB Interpretation No. 5, later in
this section.])

Government-mandated and voluntary nonexchange trans
actions timing is as follows:
- Assets (recipients) and liabilities (providers) should be
recognized when all applicable eligibility requirements
are met or (for asset recognition) resources are received,
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whichever is first. E ligibility requirements are estab
lished by the provider and may stipulate the qualifying
characteristics of recipients, time requirements, allow
able costs, and other contingencies.
-

Revenues (recipients) and expenses/expenditures
(providers) should be recognized when all applicable el
igib ility requirements are met. (On the m odified ac
crual basis, revenues should be recognized when all
applicable eligibility requirements are met and the re
sources are available.8) For transactions in which the
provider requires the recipient to use (sell, disburse, or
consume) the resources in or beginning in the following
period, resources provided before that period should be
recognized as advances (providers) and deferred rev
enues (recipients). For transactions, such as permanent
or term endowments, in which the provider stipulates
that resources should be maintained intact in perpetu
ity, for a specified number of years, or until a specific
event has occurred, resources should be recognized as
revenues when received and as expenses/expenditures
when paid.

GASB Statement No. 33 also provides guidance on recognizing
promises made by private donors (pledges), contraventions of
provider stipulations, and nonexchange revenues administered or
collected by another government.
GASB Statement No. 33 is effective for financial statements for
periods beginning after June 15, 2000, with earlier application
encouraged. However, the provisions of the Statement for accrualbasis revenue recognition cannot become effective for govern
mental activities until GASB Statement No. 34 (as discussed later
in this section) becomes effective. Until GASB Statement No. 34
becomes effective, the m odified accrual provisions o f GASB
Statement No. 33 should be used for governmental funds and
8. One often overlooked consequence o f GASB Statement No. 33 is that the modified
accrual-based revenue from expenditure-driven grants is no longer recognized based
on the recognition o f the qualifying expenditures. Therefore, there may be a mis
match in periods between when the governmental fund expenditures and revenue
are recognized.
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expendable trust funds, and the accrual provisions should be used
for proprietary funds; nonexpendable, pension, and investment
trust funds; colleges and universities; and entities that use propri
etary fund accounting. In addition, if a government elects early
implementation of GASB Statement No. 34 for periods begin
ning before June 15, 2000, it also is required to early implement
GASB Statement No. 33 at the same time.
GASB S ta tem en t No. 34. W hen the GASB issued its Statement
No. 34 in June 1999, the GASB chairman referred to it as “the
most significant change to occur in the history of governmental
financial reporting.” Given the significance of GASB Statement
No. 34, you should consider starting to work with the govern
ments you audit to prepare for implementation, which may, in
some cases, take considerable effort. GASB Statement No. 34 in
cludes nonauthoritative illustrations of the basic financial state
ments and supplementary information it requires. See also the
sections o f this Audit Risk Alert titled “Revision o f State and
Local Governmental Units Audit and Accounting Guide” and
“GASB Statement No. 34 Implementation Guidance” for addi
tional information relating to GASB Statement No. 34.
E ffective dates. The effective date to implement the requirements
of GASB Statement No. 34 is based on the total annual revenues
of a government's governmental and enterprise funds (excluding
other financing sources and extraordinary item s),9 measured in
the first fiscal year ending after June 15, 1999, as follows. Earlier
application is encouraged.

Phase

Total Annual Revenues
in the First Fiscal Year
Ending AfterJune 15, 1999
(in millions)

Implementation Required
fo r Periods Beginning
After June 15, —

1
2
3

$100 or more
$10 <$100
<$10

2001
2002
2003

9. Certain entities use measures other than total annual revenues to determine the ap
propriate implementation phase. For example, special-purpose governments engaged
only in fiduciary activities should use total annual additions, rather than revenues.
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Each component unit is required to implement the Statement no
later than the same year as their prim ary government, even if that
is earlier than its “assigned” phase based on the component unit's
revenues in the first fiscal year ending after June 15, 1999. If a
primary government chooses to implement GASB Statement No.
34 earlier than required, all of its component units also are re
quired to implement the Statement early.
GASB Statement No. 34 has special transition provisions relating to
the reporting of general infrastructure assets (infrastructure assets as
sociated with governmental activities). GASB Statement No. 34 re
quires prospective reporting of general infrastructure assets based on
a government's implementation phase. Retroactive reporting of all
m ajor general governmental infrastructure assets (which is a numeri
cal measure based on the government's reported general capital assets
in the first fiscal year ending after June 1 5 , 1999) is encouraged at the
government's “assigned” implementation date. However, phase 1 and
2 governments are given an additional four years after that date to re
port major general infrastructure assets retroactively—and they may
lim it that reporting to such assets acquired, significantly recon
structed, or significantly improved in fiscal years ending after June
30, 1980. Phase 3 governments are encouraged to report infrastruc
ture retroactively but m ay elect to report general infrastructure
prospectively only. GASB Statement No. 34 s special infrastructure
transition provisions do not apply to proprietary funds or specialpurpose governments engaged in business-type activities because
their infrastructure assets already should have been capitalized.
Scope. GASB Statement No. 34 initially applied to all state and
local governments except public colleges and universities. How
ever, as explained later in this section, GASB Statement No. 35
extended the applicability of GASB Statement No. 34 to public
colleges and universities.
C ontents o f g e n e r a l p u r p o se ex tern a l fin a n c ia l sta tem en ts. GASB
Statement No. 34 requires the general-purpose external financial
statements for general-purpose governments to consist of—
• Managements discussion and analysis (MD&A), which is
designated as required supplementary information (RSI).
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• Basic financial statem ents, which include governm ent
wide financial statements, fund financial statements, and
notes to the financial statements.
•

RSI other than MD&A.

The contents of general-purpose external financial statements for
special-purpose governments that are engaged in only governmen
tal activities (such as some library districts) or that are engaged in
both governmental and business-type activities (such as some
school districts) generally should be the same as for generalpurpose governments. Special-purpose governments engaged only
in business-type activities (such as utilities) should present only
the financial statements required for enterprise funds, accompa
nied by M D&A and other RSI. Special-purpose governments en
gaged only in fiduciary activities (such as public employee
retirement systems) should present only the financial statements re
quired for fiduciary funds, accompanied by M D &A and other RSI.
MD&A. M D & A should be presented before the basic financial
statements, introduce the basic financial statements, and provide
an analytical overview of the government's financial activities. It
should provide an objective and easily readable analysis of the
government’s financial activities based on currently known facts,
decisions, or conditions. Among the m inim um requirements,
M D & A should—
• Include comparisons of the current year to the prior year
based on the government-wide information. (However, in
the first year that GASB Statement No. 34 is applied, gov
ernments are not required to restate the prior year infor
mation to provide the comparative data for MD&A.)
• Provide an analysis of the government’s overall financial
position and results of operations to help users to assess
whether that financial position has improved or deterio
rated as a result of the year’s activities.
•

Provide an analysis of significant changes in the results and
balances reported for major funds and an analysis of signif
icant budget variances.
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•

Describe capital asset and long-term debt activity during
the year.

• Describe currently known facts, decisions, or conditions
that are expected to have a significant effect on financial
position or results of operations.
B asic fin a n cia l statem ents. The basic financial statements replace
a governm ent’s current GPFS. The basic financial statements
consist of the government-wide financial statements, fund finan
cial statements, and notes to the financial statements. (As noted
earlier, certain special-purpose governments are not required to
present the government-wide financial statements.)
G o v ern m en t-w id e F in a n cia l S tatem en ts. The government-wide
financial statements consist of two statements— a statement of
net assets and a statement of activities. Those statements should
be prepared using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting and should report all the as
sets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, and gains and losses of the
government. Each statement should distinguish between the gov
ernmental and business-type activities of the primary government
and between the total prim ary government and its discretely pre
sented component units by reporting each in separate columns or
rows. However, because their resources are not available to fi
nance the government's programs, fiduciary activities should be
excluded from the government-wide statements.
The statement of net assets generally should report all capital as
sets, including infrastructure assets, and the statement of activi
ties generally should report depreciation expense on those capital
assets. However, depreciation is not required for infrastructure as
sets that are part of a network or subsystem of a network as long
as the government manages those assets using an asset manage
ment system that has certain characteristics and the government
can document that the assets are being preserved approximately
at (or above) a condition level established and disclosed by the
government as part of RSI (see information later in this section).
That alternative treatment for infrastructure assets is termed th e
m o d ified approach.
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The statement of net assets should report a government’s net as
sets in three categories— invested in capital assets net of related
debt, restricted, and unrestricted. Net assets should be reported as
restricted when constraints placed on their use are either exter
nally imposed (for example, by creditors or grantors) or imposed
by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
Permanent endowments or permanent fund principal amounts
included in restricted net assets should be displayed in two addi
tional components— expendable and nonexpendable.
The government-wide statement of activities should be presented
in a format that reports, for each of the government's functions,
expenses reduced by program revenues, resulting in a measure
ment of “net (expense) revenue.” Program expenses for each func
tion should include at least all the functions direct expenses and
m ay include some or all of its indirect expenses. If indirect ex
penses are allocated, direct and indirect expenses should be pre
sented in separate columns. Program revenues derive directly
from the program itself, from parties outside the reporting gov
ernm ent’s taxpayers, or citizens as a whole. General revenues
(such as taxes), contributions to perm anent and term endow
ments and to permanent fund principal, and special and extraor
dinary item s should be reported separately after the total net
(expense) revenue of the government’s functions, ultimately arriv
ing at the change in net assets for the period. Special items are sig
nificant transactions or other events that are either unusual in
nature or infrequent in occurrence and are within the control of
m anagem ent. Extraordinary items are transactions or other
events that are both unusual and infrequent.
F u n d F in a n cia l S ta tem en ts. Fund financial statements should
consist of a series of statements that focus on information about
the government’s major governmental and enterprise funds, in
cluding its blended component units. Fund financial statements
also should report information about a government’s fiduciary
funds and component units that are fiduciary in nature. Separate
fund financial statements are required for each of the three cate
gories of funds— governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary.
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GASB Statement No. 34 refines the definitions of enterprise, in
ternal service, and fiduciary funds. It eliminates the expendable
and nonexpendable trust funds and creates two new fund types—
perm anent funds and private-purpose trust funds. Permanent
funds, which are governmental funds, report resources that are
legally restricted in that only earnings, and not principal, may be
used to support the government's programs for the benefit of the
government or its citizens. Private-purpose trust funds, which are
fiduciary funds, report all trust arrangements (other than pension
and other employee benefit trust funds and investm ent trust
funds) for which principal and income benefit individuals, pri
vate organizations, or other governments.
Governmental funds should present a balance sheet and a state
m ent of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances
using the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting. Governmental fund finan
cial statements should include a summary reconciliation to the
government-wide financial statements at the bottom of the state
ment or in an accompanying schedule. Proprietary funds should
present a statement of net assets and a statement of revenues, ex
penses, and changes in fund net assets using the economic re
sources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
In some circumstances, a reconciliation to the government-wide
statements m ay be required. Proprietary funds also should pre
sent a statement of cash flows.
The focus of fund financial statements is on m a jor governmental
and enterprise funds. Major funds should be reported in separate
columns in the governm ental and proprietary fund financial
statements and are determined by a two-step test based on rela
tive percentages o f total assets, liabilities, revenues, and ex
penses/expenditures. The reporting government also m ay report
any other governmental or enterprise fund as a major fund. Non
major funds should be reported in the aggregate in a separate col
umn. Internal service funds are excluded from the m ajor fund
reporting requirements and should be reported in the aggregate
in a separate column on the proprietary fund statements.
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Fund balances for governm ental funds should be segregated
into reserved and unreserved categories. Proprietary fund net
assets should be reported in the same categories required for the
government-wide financial statements. Proprietary fund state
ments of net assets should distinguish between current and noncurrent assets and liabilities and should display restricted assets.
Governmental fund statements of revenues, expenditures, and
changes in fund balances should separately report revenues, ex
penditures, other financing sources and uses (including trans
fers), and special and extraordinary items.
Proprietary fund statements of revenues, expenses, and changes
in fund net assets should distinguish between operating and non
operating revenues and expenses. Those statements also should
report capital contributions, contributions to perm anent and
term endowments, special and extraordinary items, and transfers
separately at the bottom of the statem ent to arrive at the allinclusive change in fund net assets. Cash flow statements should
be prepared using the direct method.
Fiduciary fund statements (including component units that are
fiduciary in nature) should present a statement of fiduciary net
assets and a statement of changes in fiduciary net assets using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. Both statements should present separate columns for
each fiduciary fund type.
Interfund activity includes interfund loans, interfund services
provided and used, and interfund transfers. Interfund activity
and the related balances should be reported in the fund financial
statements but in some cases will be eliminated in the government
wide financial statements.
N otes to th e F in a n cia l S tatem ents. Previous disclosure standards
are continued under GASB Statement No. 34, and certain addi
tional disclosures that are directly related to the provisions of
Statement No. 34 also are required. For example, GASB State
ment No. 34 requires certain disclosures about significant ac
counting policies that pertain to the government-wide financial
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statements, capital assets and long-term liabilities, and enterprise
fund segments.
O th er re q u ire d su p p lem en ta ry in fo rm a tio n . In addition to
M D &A, GASB Statement No. 34 requires budgetary compari
son schedules to be presented as RSI along with other types of
supplem entary inform ation required by previous GASB pro
nouncements. It also establishes RSI for governments that use the
modified approach for reporting infrastructure assets.
RSI should include budgetary comparison schedules for the gen
eral fund and for each m ajor special revenue fund that has a
legally adopted annual budget. The budgetary comparison sched
ules should present both (1) the original and (2) the final appro
priated budgets for the reporting period, as w ell as (3) actual
inflows, outflows, and balances, stated on the government’s bud
getary basis. Certain disclosures about the budgetary information
should be presented in notes to RSI. Alternatively, a government
could present its budgetary comparison information in a basic fi
nancial statement.
If a government uses the modified approach for its infrastructure
assets, RSI, and notes to RSI, should present information about
the condition of those assets and about the estimated and actual
costs to maintain and preserve those assets approximately at (or
above) the government’s “target” condition level for those assets.
Help Desk—The AICPA has published a booklet, Under
standing a n d Im plem enting GASB’s New F inancial R eporting
M odel: A Question and Answer Guide fo r Preparers an d Auditors
o f State a n d Local G overnm ental F inancial Statements (stock
number 022515kk), to help you and the governments you
audit begin the process of understanding the new standards.
See the further discussion in “GASB Statement No. 34 Imple
mentation Guidance,” later in this section.
GASB S ta tem en t No. 35. GASB Statement No. 35 was issued in
November 1999 and extends the scope of GASB Statement No.
34 to include public colleges and universities.
GASB Statement No. 35, through the provisions of GASB State
ment No. 34, permits public colleges and universities to use the
65

guidance for special-purpose governm ents engaged only in
business-type activities, engaged only in governmental activities,
or engaged in both governmental and business-type activities in
their separately issued general purpose external financial state
ments. Under that guidance, in its separately issued financial
statements, a public institution is required to include M D&A;
basic financial statem ents, as appropriate for the category of
special-purpose government reporting selected, including notes
to the financial statements; and RSI other than MD&A.
Public colleges and universities that are part of, or a component
unit of, a state or local government should implement the finan
cial reporting model at the same time as their prim ary govern
ments. Public institutions that are not a com ponent unit of
another government are subject to the three im plem entation
phases discussed earlier for GASB Statement No. 34, based on
their revenues (excluding additions to investment in plant or
other financing sources and extraordinary items), including the
extended implementation phases for retroactively reporting their
major general infrastructure assets.
GASB S ta tem en t No. 36. GASB Statement No. 36, R ecipien t Re
p o r tin g f o r C ertain S h ared N onex change R even u es, was issued in
April 2000 and its effective date coincides with a government's
implementation of GASB Statement No. 33.
Under the general provisions of GASB Statement No. 33, when
one government shares its revenues w ith another government,
both the provider and the recipient governments account for the
transaction as a voluntary or government-mandated nonexchange
transaction, as appropriate. However, paragraph 28 of GASB
Statement No. 33 created an exception to those general provi
sions. In certain situations (such as the sharing of sales and prop
erty taxes), it required recipient governments to account for the
sharing as a derived tax or imposed nonexchange transaction.
Consequently, recognition of the sharing could have differed be
tween the provider government and the recipient government.
GASB Statement No. 36 provides symmetrical accounting treat
ment for those shared revenues by removing the exception from
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paragraph 28 o f GASB Statement No. 33. Thus, recipients of
shared derived tax or im posed nonexchange revenues should
account for the sharing in the same m anner as the provider
government— as a voluntary or government-mandated nonex
change transaction, as appropriate. In addition, GASB Statement
No. 36 allows governments to use any reasonable estimate to ac
crue revenue from those transactions. As originally written, para
graph 28 limited estimation methods.
GASB I n ter p reta tio n No. 5. In November 1997, the GASB is
sued GASB Interpretation No. 5, P roperty Tax R even u e R ecogn i
tio n in G o v ern m en ta l F unds, w hich is effective for financial
statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2000, with early
application encouraged. This Interpretation amends NCGA In
terpretation 3, R even u e R ecogn ition —P rop erty Taxes, by modify
ing the definition of a v a ila b le as the term relates to m odified
accrual-based property tax revenue recognition. The effect of this
amendment is to remove the “due” consideration from the defin
ition of availab le established in NCGA Interpretation 3. The re
vised definition o f a v a ila b le is as follows: “A vailab le means
collected within the current period or expected to be collected
soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current
period.” You should note, however, that this Interpretation does
not change the stipulation that the collection period after year
end should not exceed sixty days.
You also should note that, because of early application provisions,
different governments may apply different standards to the prop
erty taxes they report in governmental funds in their fiscal year
2000 financial statements:
• If a government has not early adopted either GASB Inter
pretation No. 5 or GASB Statement No. 33, it should re
port receivables for property taxes when the taxes are
levied. Property tax revenues should be recognized under
the modified accrual basis of accounting in the period for
which they are levied, provided they are availab le—due or
past due and collected w ithin the current period or within
sixty days thereafter.
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• If the government has early adopted GASB Interpretation
No. 5, but not GASB Statement No. 33, it should report
receivables for property taxes when the taxes are levied.
Property tax revenues should be recognized under the mod
ified accrual basis of accounting in the period for which
they are levied, provided they are a v a ila b le—collected
within the current period or within sixty days thereafter.
•

If a government has early adopted GASB Statement No.
33, property taxes should be reported when the enforceable
legal claim to the taxes arises, which generally is specified in
enabling legislation. Property tax revenues should be recog
nized under the modified accrual basis of accounting in the
period for which they are levied, provided they are a v a il
able. The m eaning o f a v a ila b le depends on whether the
government has early adopted GASB Interpretation No. 5.
If not, it uses the definition from NCGA Interpretation
No. 3— due or past due and collected within the current
period or within sixty days thereafter. If the government has
early adopted GASB Interpretation No. 5, it uses that stan
dard for the available criterion— collected within the cur
rent period or within sixty days thereafter.

GASB I n ter p re ta tio n No. 6. In March 2000, the GASB issued
GASB Interpretation No. 6, R ecognition a n d M ea su rem en t o f Cer
tain L iabilities a n d E xpenditures in G overn m en tal F u n d F in a n cial
Statements. The effective date of the Interpretation coincides with
the effective date of GASB Statement No. 34 for the reporting
government (see the discussion earlier in this section). Earlier ap
plication is encouraged provided that the Interpretation and
GASB Statement No. 34 are implemented simultaneously.
GASB Interpretation No. 6 addresses the following long-standing
concerns about the interpretation and application of modified ac
crual standards in governmental fund financial statements: lack
of comparability in the application of standards when recogniz
ing certain fund liabilities and expenditures; the perceived subjec
tivity of some interpretations and applications; and the potential
circularity of the criteria for recognition of revenues and expendi
tures. GASB Interpretation No. 6 provides a common, internally
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consistent interpretation of standards for distinguishing the por
tions of liabilities that should be reported as (1) governmental
fund liabilities and expenditures and (2) general long-term liabil
ities of the government, in certain areas where practice differences
have occurred or could occur. Key points of clarification include
the following:
• Unless there is an applicable accrual modification, govern
mental fund liabilities and expenditures should be accrued.
Liabilities that governments normally pay in a timely man
ner and in full from expendable available financial resources
(for example, salaries and utilities) should be recognized
when incurred, without regard to the extent to which re
sources are currently available to liquidate the liability.
• A government's unmatured long-term indebtedness (other
than “specific fund debt” of proprietary and trust funds)
should be reported as general long-term liabilities, rather
than governmental fund liabilities. This applies not only to
formal debt issues, such as bonds, but also to other forms
of general long-term indebtedness, including compensated
absences, claims and judgments, special termination bene
fits, landfill closure and postclosure care costs, and “other
obligations” that are not due for payment in the current
period.
• A government m ay accrue an additional governm ental
fund liability and expenditure for debt service on general
long-term debt, beyond the amounts m atured, if it has
provided financial resources to a debt service fund for
payment of liabilities that will mature early in the follow
ing year. A government has provided financial resources if
it has deposited or transferred to a debt service fund finan
cial resources that are dedicated for payment of debt ser
vice. E arly in th e fo llo w in g y e a r refers to a short tim e
period— usually one to several days and not more than one
month.
• Liabilities for compensated absences, claim s and ju d g
ments, special term ination benefits, and landfill closure
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and postclosure care costs are “normally expected to be liq
uidated with expendable available financial resources,” and
should be recognized as governmental fund liabilities, to
the extent that they mature each period. The accumulation
of financial resources in a governmental fund for eventual
paym ent of unmatured liabilities (for example, compen
sated absences expected to become due in future periods)
does not constitute an outflow of current financial re
sources or result in the recognition of an additional gov
ernmental fund liability or expenditure. Governments that
would prefer accrual-basis reporting for those liabilities in
the fund financial statements could consider reporting the
activity through a trust fund or an internal service fund.
GASB Exposure Drafts Outstanding
What exposure drafts of proposed pronouncements does the GASB have
outstanding?

Released in December 1994, the exposure draft of a proposed
Statement titled the F in a n cia l R eporting Entity: A ffiliated O rgani
zations would establish standards to determine whether an orga
nization should be classified as an affiliated organization and, if
so, would establish criteria to determine whether that affiliated
organization is a component unit of a prim ary government's fi
nancial reporting entity. The GASB is reconsidering alternatives
for including assets raised, held, or invested by potential compo
nent units and may issue a revised exposure draft in the summer
o f 2000.
Upcoming GASB Projects
What projects is the GASB working on now?

For years, the governmental and college and university financial
reporting models have been the focus of the GASB's efforts. Now
that the GASB has finished those standards and the related im 
plementation guidance (as discussed further in this section), it is
starting to turn its attention to projects that have been simmering
on the back burner.
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Projects that may see exposure drafts of proposed accounting and
financial reporting standards released in 2000 and 2001 include
other postemployment benefits and a broad reexamination of
note disclosures. The GASB's conceptual framework project also
m ay result in a proposed Concepts Statement in 2001.
The GASB also has identified several financial reporting issues as
potential long-term projects— environmental liabilities; fiduciary
responsibilities; financial instruments; combining and individual
fund financial statements in the CAFR; the preservation method
for infrastructure assets; capital asset impairment; and financial
condition, popular, and service efforts and accom plishm ents
(performance measurement) reporting. If you are interested in
tracking the progress of those projects, information is posted and
periodically updated on the GASB Web site.
Continuing Disclosure Issues
What continuing governmental disclosure issues should auditors be
especially concerned about?

We want to remind you of two continuing disclosure standards
that may be of special concern. You need to evaluate whether the
governments you audit have made appropriate disclosures and if
not, consider the effect on your report on the financial statements.
Derivatives and Similar Debt and Investment Transactions
Some governments have not been m aking the disclosures re
quired by GASB TB 94-1, D isclosures ab ou t D erivatives a n d S im i
lar D ebt a n d In vestm en t Transactions. For this purpose, d eriva tives
generally are investment and debt contracts whose value depends
on, or derives from, the value of an underlying asset, reference
rate, or index. The TB also applies to similar transactions, such as
mortgage-backed securities. If derivatives have been used, held,
or written during the period covered by the financial statements
(regardless of whether the assets or liabilities resulting from the
transactions are reported on the balance sheet), the disclosures re
quired by TB 94-1 include—
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• The nature of the transactions and the reasons for entering
into them.
• A discussion of the entity’s exposure to credit risk, market
risk, and legal risk.
• The accounting policies relating to the transactions.
• M aterial violations o f legal, regulatory, or contractual
provisions.
Probably the most overlooked requirement o f TB 94-1 is that the
disclosures also apply when the government is exposed to risk by
indirectly using, holding, or writing derivatives, such as through
participation in a mutual fund or investment pool that holds de
rivatives. If the information is not available to make the specific
disclosures, that fact should be disclosed instead.
Material Violations o f Finance-related Legal and
Contractual Provisions
A nother GASB disclosure requirem ent that often is over
looked is in C odification section 2 2 0 0 .106h, m aterial viola
tions o f finance-related legal and contractual provisions. For
example, technical debt defaults (such as not maintaining required
debt service reserves) should, if considered material, be disclosed.
Possible Changes in Disclosures Required by GASB
Statement No. 3
Are there environmental changes that may affect any ongoing
governmental disclosure requirements?

Recent federal legislation affecting the financial services industry
m ay result in changes that affect the manner in which govern
ments should classify their deposits and investments in categories
of custodial credit risk under GASB Statement No. 3, D eposits
w ith F in a n cia l In stitu tion s, In v estm en ts (in c lu d in g R ep u rch a se
A greem ents), a n d R everse R epurchase A greem ents.
In November 1999, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Services
Modernization Act (Public Law 106-102) was enacted, allowing
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financial institutions, securities firms, and insurance companies
to deal in each others’ products and to offer a wide range of prod
ucts to customers. Key among the provisions of the Act is that
banks, insurance companies, and brokerages may own each other.
This law may result in reorganizations, acquisitions, and mergers
that reduce the independence between a governmental entity’s
deposit and investment counterparties and its custodial agents,
making changes in deposit and investment classifications neces
sary. You should consider asking the governments you audit and
their investm ent counterparties and custodial agents about
changes in those relationships.
Performance Measurements
Is there any new information on performance measurements
in government?

If you are interested in the use and reporting of performance
measures for government services, check out the GASB’s new
Web site for performance m easurement for government at
http://www.seagov.org. That Web site has a wealth of resources
on the topic, such as discussions of the nature and purpose of per
formance measures in governments and GASB’s research on the
topic; case studies for twenty state and local governments; syn
opses of published articles and news stories; links to performance
indicators on the Internet; performance measurement studies,
demonstration projects, and other information important to per
formance measurement; a section devoted to citizens, presented
in nontechnical language; a calendar of pertinent conferences,
training seminars and other events; and online discussion groups
on developing, reporting, and using performance measures.
If a government you audit develops and reports performance mea
surement, you may be able to use that information when you per
form analytical procedures on financial statement amounts as
required by SAS No. 56, A nalytical P rocedures (AICPA, P rofessional
Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 329) for an audit’s planning and overall
review stages. That is, the relationship of performance measures to
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financial statement amounts can provide you clues about areas of
audit risk and potential financial statement misstatements.
Superseded Audit Guides Still Required for Accounting and
Financial Reporting Under GASB Standards
Are governmental entities required to use the accounting guidance in
any AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides other than Audits of State and
Local Governmental Units?

If you audit any governments that use the accounting guidance in
the following three AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides, you
need to be careful about how you use that guidance:
• A udits o f Voluntary H ealth a n d W elfare O rganizations
• A udits o f C olleges a n d U niversities
• A udits o f C ertain N onprofit O rganizations
The AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide N ot-for-P rofit O rga
n iz a tio n s superseded these three G uides, and they have not
been updated since 1994. However, some o f the accounting
guidance in them continues to apply to certain governmental
entities because GASB Statement Nos. 15, G overn m en ta l C ol
leg e a n d U niversity A cco u n tin g a n d F in a n cia l R ep ortin g M odels,
and 29, T he Use o f N ot-for-P rofit A cco u n tin g a n d F in a n cia l Re
p o r t i n g P r in cip le s b y G o v e rn m e n ta l E n tities, refer to them .
W hen using the accounting guidance in those three guides,
consider accounting guidance issued since they were last up
dated. Each of the three guides describes at w hat point the up
dating process stopped.
Also be aware that the accounting guidance in those guides is su
perseded by GASB Statement Nos. 34 and 35. Once the phasedin implementation of those GASB Statements is complete, the
accounting guidance in the three guides w ill no longer apply to
any governmental entities. Consequently, the AICPA is no longer
selling copies of those three guides.
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GASB Statement No. 34 Implementation Guidance
Where can preparers and auditors of governmental financial statements
find guidance on implementing GASB Statement No. 34?

Are you looking for answers to the countless questions you have
on GASB Statement No. 34? GASB’s question and answer book,
G uide to Im plem en tation o f GASB S tatem en t 3 4 on B asic F in a n cial
Statem ents—a n d M anagem ent's D iscussion a n d Analysis—-for State
a n d L ocal G overnm ents, provides direct-from-the-source guidance
about applying the provisions of GASB Statement No. 34. W rit
ten by the GASB staff, the Guide includes the complete standards
section from the Statement; nearly 300 questions and answers
about implementation issues; and illustrative financial statements
for a municipal government, an independent school district, and
a state government. The GASB Guide also presents alternative
approaches and optional reporting and disclosure techniques in a
separate appendix. The Guide also includes a section that con
tains ten “how to” exercises, designed to provide practical expla
nations and guidance about applying certain provisions of GASB
Statement No. 34. The exercises presented address—
•

Determining composite depreciation rates.

• Applying group depreciation rates to infrastructure assets
at transition and in subsequent years.
•

Calculating net asset balances for governmental activities.

•

Reporting internal service fund balances and results.

•

Determining major funds.

•

Reconciling fund financial statements to government-wide
financial statements.

• Indirectly determining direct method cash flows.
• Estimating historical cost using current replacement cost.
• Calculating weighted-average age of infrastructure assets at
transition.
•

Determining major general infrastructure assets.
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M any other organizations, including the AICPA and the Na
tional Association of State Auditors, Comptrollers, and Treasurers
(NASACT), also are providing materials and training programs
to help you understand GASB Statement No. 34 and to find an
swers to your implementation questions.
A booklet that would fit handily in your briefcase or computer
bag is the AICPA’s U nderstanding a n d Im p lem en tin g GASB's N ew
F in a n cial R eporting M odel: A Q uestion a n d A nswer G uide f o r P re
p a rers a n d A uditors o f S tate a n d L oca l G o vern m en ta l F in a n cia l
Statem ents (Product No. 0 22515kk). That booklet, which was is
sued shortly after the GASB issued its Statement No. 34, w ill
help you and the governments you audit begin the process of un
derstanding the new standards. It contains more than sixty ques
tions and answers that digest the contents of Statement. That
publication also refers you to relevant paragraphs in the State
ment, analyzes the standards, and identifies issues auditors and
preparers should consider early in the implementation planning
process. That booklet is a useful reference tool that can be easily
distributed to staff and to the governments you audit, and could
serve as a basis for training on the new standards.
A visit to the Internet also might bring you the answers you seek.
The NASACT’s GASB Statement No. 34 Implementation Com
mittee, which includes state-level financial statement preparers
and auditors, is developing a database of questions and answers
about the Statement. That database is a clearing house for ques
tions, problems, issues, proposed solutions, and comments that
arise as both state and local governments implement the State
ment. Instruction for using the database, including for submit
ting a question, proposed solution, or comment, are included at
the NASACT Web site at http://www.sso.org/nasact. Additional
materials about implementing GASB Statement No. 34 also are
posted there.
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GASB Statement No. 34 Users’ Guides
How can you help a government help the users of its financial
statements understand the changes that will result from GASB
Statement No. 34?

Several organizations are preparing written or presentation mate
rials to help financial statement users understand the financial
statements that w ill be prepared using the provisions of GASB
Statement No. 34. Among them, the GASB staff is developing
several “users’” guides. Those guides will not be authoritative pro
nouncements under the hierarchy of GAAP for governmental en
tities as provided in SAS No. 69, The M ea n in g of Present Fairly in
Conformity W ith Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in
th e In d ep en d en t A uditor’s R eport (AICPA, P rofession al Standards,
vol. 1, AU sec. 411).
The GASB staff is developing individual guides for users of the
financial statements of state governments, local governments,
and school districts. Those guides w ill be w ritten for readers
w ith less knowledge and experience in governmental account
ing and financial reporting. A general guide covering m ultiple
types of governments also is planned for more experienced ana
lysts. Further, the GASB staff is developing a set of very brief
documents, developed from more-expansive user guides, that
m ay be especially appropriate for elected officials, legislators,
and school board m em bers. The GASB plans to issue these
guides in the spring and sum m er o f 2000, starting w ith the
local government guide.
Application of FASB Statement No. 135 to Governments
Does FASB Statement No. 135 apply to governmental entities?

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Fi
nancial Accounting Standards No. 135, Rescission o f FASB State
m en t No. 75 a n d T ech n ical C orrection s, was issued in February
1999 and is effective for financial statements for fiscal years end
ing after February 15, 1999. Although FASB Statement No. 135
is not newly effective this year, we have received some questions
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about whether it applies to governmental entities. We explain
here the contents of that Statement and how it m ay affect the
governments you audit.
FASB Statement No. 135 was issued to clean up some loose ends
in the FASB standards.
• It rescinds FASB Statement No. 75, D eferral o f th e E ffective
D ate o f C ertain A ccou n tin g R equirem ents f o r P ension Plans
o f State a n d L ocal G overn m en tal Units, which had indefi
nitely deferred the effective date of FASB Statement No.
35, A cco u n tin g a n d R ep o rtin g by D efin ed B en efit P en sion
Plans, to governmental pension plans.
•

It subjected to due process certain amendments that have
been made in the FASB’s O rigin a l P ro n o u n cem en ts a n d
C urren t Text as a result of FASB pronouncements, even
though those amendments had not been made explicit in
those pronouncements.

• It (1) corrects references to AICPA guidance that has
been revised or superseded, (2) extends certain provisions
of existing authoritative literature to reflect established
practice, and (3) elim inates inconsistencies in existing
pronouncements.
In general, governments are not required to apply FASB stan
dards issued after November 30, 1989. The exception is propri
etary activities (proprietary funds and other governm ental
entities that use proprietary fund accounting) that, under the
provisions of GASB Statement No. 20, A ccou n tin g a n d F in a n cial
R eportin g f o r P rop rietary Funds a n d O ther G overn m en tal E ntities
T hat Use P roprietary F und A ccounting, paragraph 7, have elected
to apply all post-November 30, 1989, FASB Statements and In
terpretations except for those that conflict w ith or contradict
GASB pronouncements. Therefore, those proprietary activities
that elect paragraph 7 are required to apply the provisions of
FASB Statement No. 135.
Other governments are not required to apply the provisions of
FASB Statement No. 135, even those individual provisions that
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amend or supersede an FASB Statement or Interpretation, APB
Opinion, or Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) that the gov
ernment is required or elects to apply. (For example, a proprietary
activity is required by GASB Statement No. 20, paragraph 6, to
apply all such pronouncements issued on or before November
30, 1989, unless they conflict w ith or contradict GASB pro
nouncements. Further, a government m ay apply private sector
standards that do not conflict w ith or contradict GASB pro
nouncements to its governmental funds as “other accounting lit
erature” or because it represents prevalent practice.10) However,
given the “corrective” nature of the provisions of FASB Statement
No. 135, those other governments should consider the need to
apply those provisions as “other accounting literature.”
Executive Summary— Accounting Issues and Developments
• The GASB has rescinded its year 2000 disclosure requirement.
• The GASB has four Statements and two Interpretations that are ef
fective for years beginning after 2000, but earlier implementation is
permitted. This includes the long-awaited GASB Statement No. 34
on the new financial reporting model.
• The GASB has one Statement in the exposure draft stage.
• The governments you audit may not be making proper disclosures
about derivatives and material violations of finance-related legal and
contractual provisions, and environmental changes may affect their
disclosures under GASB Statement No. 3.
• Although superseded by the AICPA, the accounting guidance in cer
tain AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides has been continued in ef
fect by the GASB. However, GASB Statement Nos. 34 and 35 will
change that.
• We are starting to see the development of guidance to help imple
ment and understand GASB Statement No. 34. We tell you where to
find it.
• FASB Statement No. 135 may affect the financial statements of the
governments that you audit.

10. See footnote 6.
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References for Additional Guidance
AICPA
Publications
The following are some AICPA publications that may be of inter
est to auditors of state and local governmental units.
• Audit and Accounting Guide A udits o f State a n d L ocal Gov
ern m en ta l Units (Product No. 012061kk)
•

SOP 98-2, A ccou n tin g f o r Costs o f A ctivities o f N ot-for-P rofit
O rga n iz ation s a n d S tate a n d L ocal G overn m en ta l E ntities
T hat In clu d e F u n d R a isin g (Product No. 0 l4 8 8 7 k k )—
Note that this SOP is an appendix to the Audit and Ac
counting Guides for state and local governmental units
(see previous bullet for product num ber) and not-forprofit organizations (Product No. 013392kk). It also is in
cluded in the AICPA publication titled T echnical P ra ctice
Aids (Product No. 005059kk).

•

SOP 98-3, A udits o f States, L ocal G overnm ents, a n d N ot-forP rofit O rganizations R eceivin g F ederal A wards (Product No.
0 l4 9 0 4 k k )— Note that this SOP is an appendix to the
Audit and Accounting Guides for state and local govern
mental units and not-for-profit organizations and in Tech
n ica l P ra ctice Aids (see bullets above for product numbers).

•

U n d ersta n d in g a n d I m p lem en tin g GASBs N ew F in a n cia l
R eportin g M o d el (Product No. 0 2 2 5 15kk)—This publica
tion provides a sum m ary o f the significant portions of
GASB Statement No. 34, answering the most important
questions about the new requirements for the annual fi
nancial reports of state and local governments. Addition
ally, the author provides her assessments of the new
standard and offers insights into planning and implemen
tation issues. For a more detailed description of this publi
cation, see the section of this A udit Risk A lert titled
“GASB Statement No. 34 Implementation Guidance.”
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• A uditing R ecipients o f F ederal A wards: P ra ctica l G uidance f o r
A p p lyin g O M B C ircu la r A -133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non-Profit O rganizations (Product
No. 008730kk)— This Practice Aid contains comprehen
sive analyses and guidance on applying OMB Circular A133. The publication includes numerous audit checklists
and illustrative examples to help auditors perform audits
that comply with regulations.
•

Checklists a n d Illu strative F in a n cia l S tatem ents f o r State a n d
L oca l G o v ern m en ta l U nits (Product No. 0 0 8 7 63kk)—
Updated annually, this publication provides checklists and
illustrations of financial statements and note disclosures
and auditors’ reports, including reports in accordance with
G overn m en t A uditing Standards and the Single Audit Act
Amendments of 1996.

• Audit and Accounting M anual (Product No. 007260kk)—
Updated annually, this publication has an extensive sec
tion o f in ternal control questionnaires and audit
programs for audits of governmental entities, including
audits in accordance w ith the Single Audit Act Amend
ments of 1996.
•

C onsidering F raud in a F inancial S tatem ent A udit: P ractical
G uidance f o r A pplying SAS No. 82 (Product No. 008883kk)—
This Practice Aid walks auditors through issues likely to
be encountered in applying SAS No. 82, C on sideration o f
F ra u d in a F in a n cia l S ta tem en t A u d it (AICPA, P ro fes
sio n a l S tandards, vol. 1, AU sec. 316), to audits, includ
ing valuable tools such as sample docum entation. The
publication also provides specific guidance on applying
the concepts of the SAS to various industries, including
government.

Continuing Professional Education Courses
The AICPA offers continuing professional education (CPE) in
the form of both group-study and self-study courses, and in print
and video format.
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Group-study courses include the following:
• A -133: Merging Compliance Supplement, Cost Circulars
and Audit Guides
• Advanced Auditing of HUD-Assisted Projects
• Applying A -133 to Nonprofit and Governmental Organi
zations
• Applying Fraud SAS No. 82 in Government and Not-forProfit Audits
• Audit Sampling for Compliance Auditing
• Auditing State and Local Governments
• Audits of HUD-Assisted Projects
• Audits of Public Schools
•

Compliance Auditing

•

Government Reporting Models for 2000 and Beyond
(GASB 34)

•

Governmental Auditing and Accounting Update

• Governmental and Nonprofit Annual Update
•

Performance Audits of Governmental Entities

• Solving Complex Single Audit Issues for Governmental
and Nonprofit Organizations
•

Subrecipient Monitoring

• Workpaper Preparation Techniques for Government and
Nonprofit Organizations
• Yellow Book: G overnm ent A uditing Standards
Self-study courses include the following:
• Advanced Auditing of HUD-Assisted Projects
• Applying A -133 to Nonprofit and Governmental Organi
zations
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• Applying Fraud SAS No. 82 in Governmental and Notfor-Profit Audits
• Auditing State and Local Governments
• Audits of HUD-Assisted Projects
• Audits of Public Schools
• Compliance Auditing
•

Government Reporting M odels for 2000 and Beyond
(GASB 34)

•

Governmental Auditing and Accounting Update

•

Introduction to Governmental Accounting

• Joint and Indirect Cost Allocations for Governmental and
N onprofit O rganizations: How to Prepare and A udit
Them
•

Performance Audits of Governmental Entities

• Solving Complex Single Audit Issues for Government and
Nonprofit Organizations
• Subrecipient Monitoring
• Workpaper Preparation Techniques for Government and
Nonprofit Organizations
• Yellow Book: G overnm ent A uditing Standards
The following video courses also are available:
• Audits of HUD-Assisted Projects
•

Government Reporting Model for 2000 and Beyond

•

Governmental Accounting and Auditing Update

• Implementing the New Government Reporting Model
• Solving Complex Single Audit Issues for Government and
Nonprofit Organizations
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• Workpaper Preparation Techniques for Government and
Nonprofit Organizations
• Yellow Book: G overnm ent A uditing Standards
New! O nline CPE Offer!
The AICPA w ill be launching shortly a new online learning li
brary, AICPA InfoBytes. An annual fee ($95 for members and
$295 for nonmembers) will offer unlimited access to over 1,000
hours of online CPE in one- and two-hour segments. Register
today as our guest at http://infobytes.aicpaservices.org.
To order AICPA products, call (888) 777-7077 (menu selection
#1); write AICPA Order Department, P.O. Box 2209, Jersey City,
NJ 07303-2209; or fax (800) 362-5066. The best times to call are
8:30 A.M. to 11:30 A.M. and 2:00 P.M. to 7:30 P.M., Eastern Stan
dard Time. Also, visit the AICPA’s Web site (http://www.aicpa.org)
to obtain product information and place online orders.
Industry Conferences
The AICPA will hold its seventeenth annual National Govern
mental Accounting and Auditing Update Conference on August
15-16, 2000, in Washington, DC, and again on September 1819, 2000, in Tempe, Arizona. This high-level conference is de
signed for practitioners; officials working in federal, state, or local
governmental finance and accounting; and recipients of federal
awards. It is the premier forum for the discussion of important
governmental accounting and auditing developments. Partici
pants will receive updates on current issues, practical advice, and
timely guidance on recent developments from experts.
The AICPA also offers an annual training program called the Na
tional Governmental and Not-for-Profit Training Program. This
year’s program w ill be held on October 23-25, 2000, in Las
Vegas, Nevada. It is designed for practitioners or accountants, au
ditors, and other staff in government who want in-depth, handson training in government accounting and auditing. For more
information about the conference or the training program, please
call the AICPA CPE Conference Hotline at (888) 777-7077.
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Accounting and Auditing Technical Hotline
The Technical H otline answers members’ inquiries about ac
counting, auditing, attestation, compilation, and review services.
Call (888) 777-7077.
Ethics Hotline
Members of the AICPA’s Professional Ethics Team answers in
quiries concerning independence and other behavioral issues re
lated to the application o f the AICPA Code of Professional
Conduct. Call (888) 777-7077.
AICPA Home Page
The AICPA has established a home page on the W orld W ide
Web. AICPA O nline, the AICPA’s Web site at http://www.
aicpa.org, offers members a unique opportunity to stay abreast of
developments in accounting and auditing. CPAs can benefit
trem endously by using online resources such as professional
news, membership information, state and federal legislative up
dates, AICPA press releases, speeches, and exposure drafts, among
other things. The home page also features a “Talk to Us” section
for members who want to send email messages directly to AICPA
representatives or teams. Also, with a comprehensive list of links
to other accounting- and finance-related sites, AICPA Online
serves as a gateway to additional Internet resources. The home
page also includes a separate section that deals with single audit
issues. Look for this information at http:\\www.aicpa.org\belt\
a 133m ain.htm . Also, CPAs who work in government should
note that there is a separate section of the AICPA home page de
voted specifically to them. Look for this inform ation at
http://www.aicpa.org/ members/div/cpagov/index.htm.
Fax Hotline
The AICPA has a Fax Hotline that enables members to obtain
pertinent information from a fax machine twenty-four hours a
day, seven days a week. Current AICPA comment letters, confer
ence brochures and registration forms, CPE information, AcSEC
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actions, and legislative news are some of the kinds of documents
that can be retrieved on the Fax Hotline. To access the hotline,
dial (201) 938-3787 from a fax machine, follow the voice cues,
and when prompted, provide the number(s) of the document(s)
desired. A list of all items available through this service may be
obtained via the Fax Hotline by entering document number 1.
Governmental Accounting Standards Board
The GASB offers the following publications and services:
•

C odification o f G overnm ental A ccou n tin g a n d F in a n cial Re
p o r tin g Standards. The 1999-2000 edition is as of June 30,
1999. An updated edition as of June 30 each year is issued
in late summer.

•

GASB O rigin a l P ronouncem ents, as of June 30, 1999. An
updated edition as of June 30 each year is issued in late
summer.

•

GASB I m p le m e n ta tio n G u id es— These q uestio n -an d answer special reports are an occasional service containing
im plem entation guidance for GASB standards. To date,
the GASB has issued Implementation Guides for GASB
Statement Nos. 3, 9, 10, 14, 25-27, 31, and 34.

•

GASB User G uides to F in a n cia l S tatem ents—These intro
ductions to the financial statements of state and local gov
ernments and school districts are the G A SB 's first
publications designed specifically for “users.” The Guides
w ill be issued in the spring and summer of 2000, begin
ning with the local government guide.

•

GASB H om e P age—Information about the GASB can be
found on its Web site, http://www.gasb.org. The site features
a section on GASB Statement No. 34 with a calendar of
training sessions and seminars and links to online resources
about the Statement. The W hat’s N ew ? section contains the
latest news about the GASB and governmental account
ing, as well as calendars of GASB meetings, speaking en
gagements, constituent events, outstanding due process
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documents, the current quarterly technical plan, and other
frequently requested materials. Other items include “Facts
about GASB,” summaries of all final GASB documents and
ordering information, a list of board members, staff, and ad
visory council members with their email addresses.
•

P erform a n ce M easurem ents f o r G overnm ents Web site—The
GASB's other Web site, located at http://www.seagov.org,
is a clearinghouse for information about the development,
use, and reporting of performance measures for govern
ments. The site’s m ain features include a citizens’ guide
and links to government performance indicators, studies,
reports, government sites, ongoing projects, and several
online discussion groups.

•

Fax In fo rm a tio n System — The GASB has a twenty-fourhour fax system that enables interested persons to obtain
information on upcoming meetings, the current technical
plan, and “Facts about GASB.” To access the system, dial
(203) 847-0700, extension 14, from a fax machine, and
follow the voice cues.

•

GASB publications and services can be obtained by calling
the GASB Publications Department at (800) 748-0659.

Federal Agencies— Administrative Regulations
Most federal agencies issue general adm inistrative regulations
that apply to their programs. Those regulations provide general
rules on the ways to apply for grants and contracts, the ways
grants are made, the general conditions that apply to and the ad
ministrative responsibilities of grantees and contractors, and the
compliance procedures used by the various agencies. Those regu
lations are included in the C ode o f F ederal R egulations.
In 1988, a final rule, U niform A d m in istra tive R eq u irem en ts f o r
Grants a n d C ooperative A greem ents w ith State a n d L ocal G overn
m ents, was published, establishing a common rule to create con
sistency and uniform ity among federal agencies in the
adm inistration of grants to and cooperative agreements w ith
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state, local, and federally recognized Indian tribal governments.
The common rule has been codified in each federal agency’s por
tion of the C ode o f F ederal R egulations.
General Accounting Office
GAO publications and services include the following:
•

G o vern m en t A u d itin g S tandards, 1994 R evision as
A m ended—These standards, also referred to as the Yellow
Book, relate to audits— both financial and performance—
of governmental organizations, programs, activities, and
functions, and of governmental funds received by contrac
tors, nonprofit organizations, and other nongovernmental
organizations. The Standards incorporate the AICPA
Statements on Auditing Standards for fieldwork and re
porting, and prescribe additional Standards to meet the
more varied interests of governmental audit report users.
The 1994 revision and its amendments (see below) are for
sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Govern
m ent Printing Office (GPO), W ashington, DC 20401;
phone (202) 512-1800; fax (202) 512-2250; Stock No.
020-000-00-265-4. The current codification of the Stan
dards that includes Amendment Nos. 1 and 2 (see below)
also is available on the Yellow Book section of the GAO
Web site at www.gao.gov/govaud/ybk01.htm.

•

G overnm ent A uditing Standards: A m en dm en t No. 1, D ocu 
m en ta tio n R eq u irem en ts W hen A ssessing C on tro l Risk a t
M axim um f o r C ontrols S ign ifican tly D ep en d en t Upon C om 
p u te r iz e d In fo rm a tio n S ystem s (GAO/A-GAGAS-1)— In
M ay 1999, the GAO issued its first am endm ent to the
1994 version of G overnm ent A uditing Standards. The new
amendment establishes a new field work standard requir
ing documentation in the planning of financial statement
audits in certain circumstances. You can access an elec
tronic version of the standard through the Yellow Book
section of the GAO Web site (see above). See the related

88

discussion in the section of this A udit Risk A lert titled
“Regulatory, Legislative, and Other Developments.”
G overnm ent A uditing Standards: A m en dm en t No. 2, A uditor
C om m unication (GAO/A-GAGAS-2). Issued in July 1999,
this second amendment to G overn m en t A uditing Standards
requires specific communication concerning the auditor's
work on compliance with laws and regulations and inter
nal control over financial reporting. The new amendment
also requires the auditor to emphasize in the auditor’s re
port on the financial statements the importance of the re
ports on com pliance w ith laws and regulations and
internal control over financial reporting when these reports
are issued separately from the report on the financial state
ments. See the related discussion in the section o f this
Audit Risk Alert titled “Regulatory, Legislative, and Other
Developments.”
In terp reta tio n o f C o n tin u in g E d u ca tion a n d T rain in g R e
quirem ents— G overnm ent A uditing Standards establish spe
cific CPE requirem ents for auditors w orking on audits
made in accordance with those standards. This interpreta
tion guides audit organizations and individual auditors on
im plem enting the CPE requirem ents by answering the
most frequently asked questions from the audit commu
nity. This interpretation is effective for CPE reporting peri
ods beginning on or after January 1, 1991. This
interpretation is available on the Yellow Book section of
the GAO Web site at www.gao.gov.
GAO on th e W orld W ide Web—GAO issues hundreds of re
ports and testimony to the Congress each year on a variety
of subjects, including accounting, budgeting, and financial
management. Now you can retrieve the full text of GAO
products via the Internet. GAO’s Web site is at http://
www.gao.gov. Full text files are available in both PDF
(Portable D ocum ent Format) and H T M L (hyper-text
mark up language) ASCII files are available through a di
rect link from the Web site. For information on how to ac
cess GAO reports or other documents on the Internet,
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send an email message to info@www.gao.gov. GAO’s Web
site is updated daily and includes—
— The GAO Daybook, a daily listing of released reports
and testimony.
— An electronic version of G overnm en t A uditing Standards
and related amendments (see http://www.gao.gov/govaud/
ybk01.htm).
— The m onthly catalog of reports and testim ony (with
links to most documents listed).
— Reports and testimony released since the last monthly
catalog.
— Comptroller General Decisions and legal opinions.
— GAO Policy Documents.
— Special publications, including GAO Annual Index and
GAO Annual Report.
Unless otherwise noted, requests for copies of these publications
should be sent to the GAO, P.O. Box 37050, Washington, DC
20013; phone (202) 512-6000. Orders m ay also be placed by
using the fax number (202) 512-6061.
Office of Management and Budget
Circulars
The OMB issues grants management circulars to establish uniform
policies and rules to be observed by federal agencies for the adminis
tration of federal grants. Federal agencies then adopt these circulars
in their regulations. The process for issuing grants management cir
culars includes due process, with a notice of any proposed changes
in the F ederal Register, a comment period, and careful consideration
of all responses before issuance of final circulars. The following table
includes a list of circulars and other documents relevant to audits of
state and local governmental units. For copies of circulars and bul
letins, write or call the Office of Administration, Publications Of
fice, Room 2200, New Executive Office Building, Washington, DC
20503; telephone (202) 395-7332, or check the OMB home page
at http://www.whitehouse.gov/OMB/grants.
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OMB Circulars Relevant to Audits of State and Local Governments

Circular Number

A pplicability

Issue D ate

A -21 (Revised)

Cost principles for educational institutions

October 1998

A -87 (Revised)

Cost principles for state, local, and Indian
tribal governments

August 19 9 7

A -102 (Revised)

Grants and cooperative agreements with
state and local governments

August 1997

A -1 1 0 (Revised)

Uniform administrative requirements for
grants and agreements with institutions
o f higher education, hospitals, and other
nonprofit organizations

September 1999

A - 133 (Revised)

Audits o f states, local governments, and
nonprofit organizations

June 19 9 7

OM B Circular A -133 C o m p lia n ce S u p p lem en t
The Compliance Supplement (Appendix B in OMB Circular A133) sets forth the major federal com pliance requirements to
consider in a single audit of states, local governments, and non
profit organizations that receive Federal assistance. You can find
the 2000 Com pliance Supplem ent (and the preceding 1999
Compliance Supplement) on the O M B’s Web site at the grants
management address, http://www.whitehouse.gov/OMB/grants.
The 2000 Compliance Supplement also is available for sale from
the Government Printing Office at (202) 512-1800. The stock
number is 041-001-00544-7.
Other Guidance
The Catalog o f Federal D om estic Assistance (CFDA) is a government
wide compendium of federal programs, projects, services, and ac
tivities that provide assistance or benefits to the American public.
The General Services Administration (GSA) is responsible for the
dissemination of federal domestic assistance information through
the catalog and maintains the information database from which
program inform ation is obtained. A searchable version of the
CFDA is located at http://www.cfda.gov.
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Program information provided by the catalog includes authorizing
legislation and audit requirements. The GSA makes copies available
to certain specified national, state, and local government offices.
Catalog staff may be contacted at (202) 708-5126. The catalog may
be purchased from the GPO by calling (202) 512-1800.
Program information also is available on machine-readable mag
netic tape, high-density floppy diskettes, and CD-ROM . These
m ay be purchased by contacting Federal Domestic Assistance
Catalog Staff (MVS), General Services Administration, 300 Sev
enth Street, SW, Suite 101, W ashington, DC 20407 or calling
(202) 708-5126.
PCIE Audit Committee Guidance
The PCIE A udit Com m ittee publishes supplem ental, nonau
thoritative guidance for federal officials addressing issues arising
from the im plem entation of the Single A udit Act and related
OMB Circulars.
Over the years, the PCIE Audit Committee (or its predecessors)
has issued a total of six position statements. Most of these posi
tion statements were developed to address issues related to audits
conducted under previous Single A udit requirem ents. O nly
PCIE Statement No. 4, which establishes uniform procedures for
referrals of substandard audits to state boards of accountancy and
the AICPA, continues to be applicable to audits conducted under
the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 and Circular A -133.
You can find PCIE Statement No. 4 on IGnet, the Inspectors
General Internet site, in the Single Audit Library. The Internet
address is www.ignet.gov/ignet/single/pcie.html.
Note that the PCIE Audit Committee also is responsible for devel
oping nonfederal audit review guidelines in the form of a desk re
view guide and a quality control review guide. Those guides, which
have been recently updated for the Single Audit Act Amendments
of 1996 and the June 1997 revision to Circular A -133, are available
at the Internet address in the paragraph above. A separate discus
sion of those guides appears in the section of this Audit Risk Alert
titled “Regulatory, Legislative, and Other Developments.”
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Government Finance Officers Association
The address, telephone number, and fax number of the Government
Finance Officers Association (GFOA) are 180 N. Michigan Avenue,
Suite 800, Chicago, IL 60601-7476; phone (312) 977-9700; fax
(312) 977-4806; Internet address: http://www.gfoa.org. GFOA pub
lications include the following:
•

G overn m en tal A ccounting, A uditing, a n d F in a n cia l R eport
in g (1994 GAAFR) and the GAAFR U pdate S u p p lem en t
(1998)— These publications provide detailed professional
guidance on the practical application of GAAP to state and
local governments. Discussions cover both the implemen
tation o f authoritative standards and current practice.
Chapters are accompanied by detailed journal entries that
tie to a complete illustrative CAFR. Special chapters are
devoted to auditing, state governments, and special enti
ties. An extensive glossary and model chart of accounts are
also provided, along w ith both a general index and an
index of journal entries. (The GAAFR Study G uide also is
available to assist those wishing to use the GAAFR for in
structional or self-study purposes.) A new edition of the
GAAFR, specifically designed for the new governmental fi
nancial reporting model established by GASB Statement
No. 34, is scheduled to be released in the fall of 2000.

• An E lected O fficial's G uide to th e N ew G overn m en tal F inan
c ia l R ep o rtin g M o d el—This publication provides in lay
terms a comprehensive overview of the new governmental
financial reporting model established by GASB Statement
No. 34. The discussion is reinforced by a number of simple
exhibits illustrating the key concepts of the new model.
•

The GAAFR R eview G uide to GASB P ron ou n cem en ts—This
book presents edited articles from the GFOA newsletter
GAAFR R eview that cover all of the statements and inter
pretations issued by the GASB through February 1996
(coverage is extended through 1999 in the GAAFR Update
S u p p lem en t). It also includes relevant articles from the
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newsletter on the proper application of the provisions of
GASB pronouncements.
• An E lected O fficia l’s G uide to F u n d B alan ce—This publica
tion explains in lay terms the various components of “fund
balance” and their meanings.
•

R eco m m en d ed P ractices f o r State a n d L ocal G overnm ents—
The 2000 update is a compilation of recommended prac
tices in public financial management. They are intended to
identify enhanced techniques and provide effective strate
gies for state and local governments. The recommended
practices are presented in the areas of accounting, auditing,
and financial reporting; cash management; budgeting and
financial management; debt management; and retirement
and benefits administration.

• E valuating In tern a l C ontrols: A L ocal G overn m en t M a n a ger s
G uide—This publication is designed to serve as a practical
tool for managers at the local government level who wish
to take a more active role in the design, implementation,
and maintenance of their governments’ internal controls.
• A udit M a n a gem en t H andbook —This handbook on audit
management is intended for state and local governments
and CPA firms that are involved in obtaining or perform
ing financial audits. It provides information on all aspects
of the audit management process, including establishing
the scope of the audit, audit procurem ent (including a
model request for proposal), monitoring the audit, and the
resolution of audit findings.
• An E lected O fficial’s G uide to In tern al Controls a n d F raud Pre
ven tion —This booklet explains the nature and purpose of
internal controls and how those controls can be made more
effective at all levels. The booklet also presents examples of
some of the types of fraud encountered in the public sector.
• A G uide to A rbitrage R equirem ents f o r G overnm ental B on d Is
sues a n d 1994 S upplem ent—These two publications present
a comprehensive overview of federal arbitrage requirements.
94

This Audit Risk Alert replaces State a n d L ocal G overn m en tal D e
v elop m en ts— 1999. The S tate a n d L ocal G overn m en ta l D evelop 
m ents Audit Risk Alert is published annually. As you encounter
audit and industry issues that you believe warrant discussion in
next year’s Alert, please feel free to share them with us. Any other
com m ents that you have about the A udit R isk A lert w ould
also be greatly appreciated. You m ay em ail these comments to
lgivarz@aicpa.org or write to:
Leslye Givarz
AICPA
Harborside Financial Center
201 Plaza Three
Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881
We also suggest that you review the AICPA A udit Risk A lert—
1999/2000, which is a general update on economic, auditing, ac
counting, and other professional developments. That publication
provides details on numerous topics of interest to auditors that
are not included in this Alert because they do not have a specific
government focus.
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APPENDIX

The Internet— An Auditor’s Reasearch Tool
If used properly, the Internet can be a valuable tool for auditors.
Through the Internet, auditors can access a wide variety of global
business information. For example, information is available relat
ing to professional news, state CPA society information, Internal
Revenue Service information, software downloads, university re
search materials, currency exchange rates, stock prices, annual re
ports, and legislative and regulatory initiatives. Not only are such
materials accessible from the computer, but they are available at
any time, often free of charge.
A number of resources provide direct information, whereas others
m ay simply point to information inside and outside of the Inter
net. Auditors can use the Internet to—
•

Obtain audit and accounting research information.

•

Obtain texts, such as audit programs.

•

Discuss audit issues with peers.

•

Communicate with audit clients.

•

Obtain information from a client's Web site.

•

Obtain information on professional associations.

There are caveats to keep in mind when using the Internet. Reliabil
ity varies considerably. Some information on the Internet has not
been reviewed or checked for accuracy; caution is advised when ac
cessing data from unknown or questionable sources. Although a
vast amount of information is available on the Internet, much of it
may be of little or no value to auditors. Accordingly, auditors should
learn to use search engines effectively to minimize the amount of
time browsing through useless information. The Internet is best
used in tandem with other research tools, because it is unlikely that
all desired research can be conducted solely from Internet sources.
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The following listing summarizes the various Web sites of many of
the organizations referred to in this Audit Risk Alert, as well as oth
ers that auditors of state and local governments may find useful.
Organization

Web Site Address

American Institute o f CPAs

http://www.aicpa.org

Department o f Education Office o f Inspector
General Non-Federal Audit Team

http://www.ed.gov/offices/OIG/
index.html

Department o f Housing and Urban
Development Office o f Inspector General
Real Estate Assessment Center

http://www.hud.gov/oig/
oigindex.html
http://www.gov/reac

Federal Audit Clearinghouse

http://harvester.census.gov/sac

FinanceNet

http://www.financenet.gov

Financial Accounting Standards Board

http://www.fasb.org

General Accounting Office
Main page

http://www.gao.gov
http://www.gao.gov/govaud/
ybk01.htm

G overnment Auditing Standards section
General Services Administration

http://www.gsa.gov

Government Finance Officers Association

http://www.gfoa.org

Governmental Accounting Standards Board
Main page
Performance Measurement for Government

http://www.gasb.org
http://www.seagov.org

U.S. House o f Representatives

http://www.house.gov

Ignet
Main page
Single audit library

http://www.ignet.gov
http://www.ignet.gov/ignet/
single/mains.html

IRS Digital Daily

http://www.irs.ustreas.gov/prod

Library o f Congress

http://lcweb.loc.gov/homepage

National Archives and Records Administration
(to search Code o f Federal Regulations and
Federal Register)

http://www.access.gpo.gov/
su_docs/aces/aces140.htm l

Office o f Management and Budget
Main page
Grants management section

http://www.whitehouse.gov/OMB
http://www.whitehouse.gov/
OMB/grants

Securities and Exchange Commission

http://www.sec.gov

U.S. Senate

http://www.senate.gov

Thomas Legislative Search

http://thomas.loc.gov
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